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          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good morning,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the Committee on Mental Health,

          4  Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and

          5  Disability Services, jointly with the Committee on

          6  Aging. The Chair on the Committee on Aging has not

          7  arrived, but I don't like to wait for the meetings

          8  to start later than what we set up to begin due to

          9  everybody's having appointments and I don't think

         10  it's right to make people wait.

         11                 Then I have conducted my hearings

         12  always on time and I am now going to begin changing

         13  today, let's continue with the same policy.

         14                 At this moment, before we go into the

         15  full Committee, I have had the custom to introduce

         16  everybody that you see here, because I think it's

         17  appropriate for people to know why we're sitting

         18  here and who we are.

         19                 Then beginning from my right hand...

         20                 MS. EMERMAN: Ann Emerman, staff to

         21  Committee.

         22                 MS. CULP: Good morning. Jennifer

         23  Culp, Legislative Policy Analyst.

         24                 MS. DE PEDRO: Good morning. Mari

         25  DePedro, Counsel to the Committee.
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          2                 MR. WALLACE: Andrew Wallace, City

          3  Council Finance Division.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the

          5  Sergeants-of-Arms that are in here, they are in

          6  charge of keeping me in place.

          7                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS MARTINEZ: Israel

          8  Martinez.

          9                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS COLLAZO: Herberto

         10  Collazo.

         11                 SERGEANT-AT-ARMS RODRIGUEZ: J.C.

         12  Rodriguez.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then the three

         14  gentlemen I just talked to you, you're supposed to

         15  fill out this if you want to speak in this hearing,

         16  and they're also supposed to keep peace and order in

         17  this place, and I promise that I am the one who

         18  create the problems usually.

         19                 Anyway, saying that, we're going to

         20  begin reading our statement, and from there we will

         21  proceed.

         22                 Good morning, citizens of New York

         23  City, and thank you for taking the time to attend

         24  today's hearing.

         25                 My name is Margarita Lopez and I am

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  the Chair of the Committee on Mental Health, Mental

          3  Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Disability

          4  Services.

          5                 Today we will be examining a drug

          6  problem that has reached throughout this nation. At

          7  the City Council, we want to ensure that New York

          8  City does everything in its power to control the

          9  spread of this epidemic in our City.

         10                 On April 22 of 2004, we held our

         11  first hearing on crystal meth, and at that time we

         12  hear from people in recovery.

         13                 We hear that there is not such a

         14  thing as recreational crystal meth use. Once you

         15  start using, you are hooked, and the feeling of

         16  euphoria and alertness that lower the innovation

         17  (sic) eventually give away to feelings of

         18  aggression, paranoia, to brain damage and cardio

         19  damage, among other things.

         20                 At that hearing, we also hear from a

         21  number of institutions. We hear about the obstacles

         22  in their effort to educate about this drug.

         23                 This summer through the media we have

         24  learned of the devastation that the drugs have

         25  caused to different to different demographic groups
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          2  across the nation, high school and college students,

          3  soccer moms, business professionals, and club-goers.

          4                 The devastation of the drugs range

          5  from increased health risk, environmental concern,

          6  because of the toxic element used in the production

          7  of the drug, increased violence, child abuse and

          8  neglect.

          9                 That is the reason why I am so proud

         10  of our work, what is why I fought so hard to create

         11  the Crystal Methamphetamine Education and Prevention

         12  Initiative.

         13                 In Fiscal Year 2005, under my

         14  leadership, the New York City Council devoted

         15  670,000 to City tax levy funds, 1 million dollar

         16  grows (sic) to this initiative, based on the

         17  continuing threat that this drug crystal meth

         18  possess to the health of New Yorkers.

         19                 I have made sure that this funding

         20  will continue on Fiscal 2006. We will continue to

         21  devote funding for education prevention. Important

         22  aspect in the fight to control this drug.

         23                 At the same time, we want to ensure

         24  that the treatment is expanded to accommodate the

         25  various specific demand by devastation that this
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          2  drug creates.

          3                 At today's hearing we will have an

          4  update on this education and prevention initiative,

          5  and we'll examine current potential policy and

          6  treatment strategy toward this crystal meth abuse in

          7  New York City.

          8                 The Committee members would also be

          9  considering for proposed Reso No. 866-A. This is a

         10  resolution calling upon the Governor of the State of

         11  New York to consider enacting legislation, declaring

         12  pseudoephedrine, an essential ingredient in the

         13  making of crystal meth a controlled substance in

         14  order to restrict the sale of over-the-counter cold

         15  medicine containing this ingredient; and further

         16  calling on the federal government to support the

         17  Combat Meth Act of 2005.

         18                 While New York City can combat

         19  crystal meth through education prevention and

         20  treatment, we also look to our partners at the State

         21  and federal level to combat the crystal meth

         22  production. We must continue to combat this drug

         23  with a sustained and relentless effort.

         24                 I also would like to make clear that

         25  unless we create detoxification programs to help
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          2  people quit this drug, we are not going to be able

          3  to make much progress. We can prevent people from

          4  using, we can educate them, but one way or another

          5  people will get hooked into it, and detoxification

          6  programs have to be put in place that are effective

          7  and bring people out of that drug.

          8                 It is my understanding, based on the

          9  opinion of psychiatrists that I have spoken to, that

         10  this drug is really, really addictive, in ways that

         11  it is very difficult to get people off it.

         12                 Then if the addiction to it is so

         13  horrible, then we need to put in place programs that

         14  can get people out of the addiction and bring them

         15  back to society in order to be part of all of us and

         16  be a contributing member of society.

         17                 At this moment I would like to start

         18  the hearing by calling Dr. Sederer, our first

         19  witness.

         20                 MS. DEPEDRO: Dr. Sederer, would you

         21  raise your right hand, please.

         22                 Will you swear or affirm that the

         23  testimony you are about to provide will be truthful

         24  in all concerns?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  SEDERER: I do.

          3                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          4                 MS. DEPEDRO: Thank you. You may

          5  begin.

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  SEDERER: Good morning, Council Chair Lopez and

          8  others on the Committee and attendees, it's my

          9  privilege to be appearing before you this morning.

         10                 Let me ask my colleague, Brett

         11  Larson, from the Bureau of HIV/AIDS in the

         12  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene to introduce

         13  himself as well.

         14                 MR. LARSON: Good morning. My name is

         15  Brett Larson. I'm the Director of the Office of Gay

         16  and Lesbian and Bisexual and Transgendered Health at

         17  the New York City Department of Health and Mental

         18  Hygiene, and also the Director of the HIV Training

         19  Institute.

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  SEDERER: I want to begin thanking you, Councilwoman

         22  Lopez, for your continued support of the Crystal

         23  Meth Amphetamine Prevention and Treatment

         24  Initiative.

         25                 On April 22nd, 2004, I testified
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          2  before this Committee with Dr. Marjorie Hill, then

          3  the DOHMH Assistant Commissioner for HIV/AIDS

          4  Services, on the effects of the drug and the nature

          5  of the problem, as we were beginning to understand

          6  it in New York City.

          7                 I am pleased to say that due to

          8  interdivisional efforts throughout DOHMH and thanks

          9  to the support of the Council, we have made progress

         10  in our ability to address this growing problem, and

         11  much remains to be done.

         12                 In order to effectively combat any

         13  public health threat, it is important to understand

         14  who is affected and how.

         15                 Since we last reported to this

         16  Committee, we have increased our efforts to monitor

         17  and collect data on crystal meth use in New York

         18  City.

         19                 Our Division of Epidemiology enhanced

         20  the 2004 version of the DOHMH community health

         21  survey, which queries a representative sample of the

         22  City's population about an array of health issues.

         23  So that now it includes questions on crystal meth

         24  use. The new data obtained supports a particular

         25  focus on the MSM community.
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          2                 Of nearly 10,000 New Yorkers

          3  surveyed, less than one percent reported using

          4  crystal meth in the last year. However, reported us

          5  among men who have sex with men is much higher,

          6  approximately four percent.

          7                 While self-reported data on drug use

          8  is likely to underestimate actual use, this

          9  information will be useful over time to monitor

         10  trends and to shape our approach to this problem.

         11                 Also of importance, to better

         12  understand the problem of crystal meth in New York

         13  City is the New York City National HIV Behavioral

         14  Surveillance Survey, a joint venture of DOHMH, the

         15  New York Blood Center and the Center for Disease

         16  Control and Prevention, where 14 percent of men who

         17  have sex with men surveyed reported having used

         18  amphetamines in the last 12 months.

         19                 In the same survey, HIV prevalence

         20  was 30 percent in crystal users and 17 percent in

         21  non-users. Our STD and HIV/AIDS Bureaus also plan to

         22  continue to expand monitoring of crystal meth in

         23  surveys and studies from which we expect additional

         24  data.

         25                 These include the Gay Gym Survey in
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          2  conjunction with New York University, Hunter

          3  College's Center for HIV/AIDS Educational Studies

          4  and Training, the STD Control Healthy Men's Night

          5  out program, and Brothers y Hermanos Risk Behavior

          6  Survey, in addition to the data we're already

          7  collecting from our own STD clinics.

          8                 A growing body of literature related

          9  to MSM who use methamphetamine and engage in

         10  high-risk sexual behaviors in New York City

         11  indicates that users are more likely than non-users

         12  to report unprotected anal intercourse and sex with

         13  multiple partners.

         14                 Six studies from New York University

         15  and Hunter College Center for HIV/AIDs Educational

         16  Studies and Training report higher rates of STDs and

         17  HIV among MSM who used methamphetamine.

         18                 Researchers in New York City have

         19  underscored the multifaceted nature of substance use

         20  in the gay and bisexual male community, and the

         21  close relationship between HIV and drug use

         22  epidemics.

         23                 There are additional risks for those

         24  who are HIV positive and using crystal meth

         25  including potential drug interactions and difficulty
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          2  complying with treatment regimens.

          3                 Drug-resistant variants of HIV

          4  develop rapidly in response to irregular use of

          5  antiretroviral drugs.

          6                 Consequently, the ramifications of

          7  the use of crystal meth pose three very serious

          8  problems: drug addiction, and its many individual

          9  and societal consequences, the potential spread of

         10  HIV infection, and the rise of HIV drug resistance.

         11                 The Department of Health and Mental

         12  Hygiene continues to address the problem of crystal

         13  meth amphetamine.

         14                 Our Crystal Meth Task Force

         15  established in February 2004, has recently expanded

         16  its roster to include representatives from the

         17  Office of Alcohol and Substance Abuse Services,

         18  that's OASAS at the State level, the New York State

         19  AIDS Institute, and ACS.

         20                 In addition to the original members

         21  who include staff from the Division of Mental

         22  Hygiene, the Bureau of HIV/AIDS, the Office of

         23  Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Health, the

         24  Bureau of STD control and the Division of

         25  Epidemiology, and from the New York City Police
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          2  Department.

          3                 Crystal meth may be more prevalent in

          4  the gay community at the present time. But we know

          5  that epidemics spread. Not only must we address

          6  prevention of crystal meth use in all communities,

          7  but we must also address the problems of today's

          8  individual users.

          9                 Therefore, the Task Force is using

         10  established techniques to raise awareness through

         11  education to health and social service providers.

         12                 The Task Force has also broadened

         13  outreach for people who use or are addicted to

         14  crystal meth through the Chelsea STD Clinic Pilot

         15  Project, which identifies, which identifies and

         16  refers clients for substance abuse treatment.

         17                 The Task Force meets regularly to

         18  review and assess implementation of its action plan

         19  and to ensure coordination of efforts.

         20                 The Task Force will target additional

         21  population in the future, as other populations at

         22  risk are identified.

         23                 First and foremost, we act on the

         24  premise that prevention delivers the greatest impact

         25  in managing a drug epidemic.
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          2                 Every case prevented reduces the

          3  number of people who will need treatment in

          4  subsequent years.

          5                 Much of our work in the gay MSM

          6  community has focused on educating that community

          7  about the special dangers of using crystal meth.

          8                 In Fiscal Year '05, the four CBOs

          9  designated by this Council developed prevention

         10  campaigns targeting youth and young adults of all

         11  sexual identities, as well as men who have sex with

         12  men from different ethnic groups, neighborhoods and

         13  age groups.

         14                 This strategy is appropriate, because

         15  while most youth and MSM in New York City do not use

         16  crystal meth, many are at risk for becoming users.

         17                 We're currently in the process of

         18  evaluating the impact of these campaigns.

         19                 Additionally, our Department will

         20  work with agencies designated for Fiscal Year '06

         21  funding to evaluate outcomes of the primary

         22  prevention campaigns we conduct this year.

         23                 We plan to incorporate the lessons

         24  learned from '05 into this '06 initiative.

         25                 With task force guidance, the
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          2  Department has integrated methamphetamine topics

          3  into existing programs, such as the Healthy Men's

          4  Night Out Program, providing information, testing

          5  and treatment referrals for substance abuse and

          6  mental health services in bars, and other

          7  recreational venues frequented by gay an bisexual

          8  clientele.

          9                 The HIV Prevention Planning Group,

         10  and other community-based organizations have

         11  identified MSM of color as a population at growing

         12  risk for methamphetamine-related HIV infection and

         13  STDs.

         14                 This drug has a powerful appeal to

         15  young men who have sex with men, isolated from the

         16  gay community, or seeking to feel socially connected

         17  and to experience some sense of personal power.

         18                 And we have adjusted our most recent

         19  media campaigns to address the trend of escalating

         20  meth use among minority populations.

         21                 In addition to educating the

         22  community at those at risk of using crystal meth, it

         23  is important to educate our health care

         24  professionals, addiction specialists and public

         25  health officials.
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          2                 On July 14th, 2005, DOHMH held a

          3  crystal meth update continuing medical education

          4  lecture on emerging prevention issues and treatment.

          5                 In October 2004, February '05 and

          6  June '05, our HIV training institute conducted

          7  lectures on crystal meth amphetamine and HIV

          8  prevention for HIV service providers, educators and

          9  substance counselors, who perform HIV-related work

         10  with the MSM population and/or with substance users.

         11                 We have attached a copy of our DOHMH

         12  Health Bulletin which addresses methamphetamine and

         13  HIV.

         14                 Three substance abuse treatment

         15  programs, the Addiction Institute, Greenwich House

         16  and St. Vincent Hospital Outpatient Chemical

         17  Dependency Clinic, were designated by the Council to

         18  receive funding to enhance their ability to treat

         19  crystal meth addiction.

         20                 We asked these three providers to

         21  incorporate into their existing programs a variety

         22  of evidence-based treatment approaches for stimulant

         23  dependents.

         24                 These programs include the use of

         25  approaches such as drug education, 12 step program
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          2  participation, relap prevention -- relapse

          3  prevention and family, couples and group therapy,

          4  the use of voucher-based incentives that provide

          5  tangible rewards for continued attendance and

          6  negative urine toxicology results, and the

          7  development of gay affirmative treatment groups in

          8  which high-risk sexual behavior associated with

          9  crystal meth use can be freely discussed.

         10                 The treatment programs are now using

         11  these approaches and techniques, and have begun

         12  marketing them to reach individuals in need.

         13                 Thanks to continued funding by the

         14  Council, these agencies will be able to continue

         15  their outreach and treatment for individuals

         16  addicted to crystal meth.

         17                 This year the programs will focus on

         18  engaging and retaining clients in addition to

         19  increase capacity for treating these individuals.

         20                 As you know, the Department has

         21  pursued federal funding on several occasions to help

         22  fund crystal meth prevention and treatment programs.

         23  So far we've been unsuccessful in securing these

         24  funds.

         25                 The federal government continues to
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          2  allocate funding to rural areas, and in the western

          3  part of the country where the crystal meth epidemic

          4  started earlier and thus data from those counties

          5  reflects higher usage.

          6                 The City of New York's

          7  representatives in Washington, D.C. also continue to

          8  advocate for a portion of the crystal meth funding

          9  to be allocated here in order to prevent the

         10  epidemic from reaching similar proportions to what

         11  it has in the west.

         12                 We will continue to advocate strongly

         13  and persistently for funding to New York City for

         14  crystal meth programs and will certainly inform the

         15  Committee of any developments as they occur.

         16                 I would like to note in concluding

         17  that Department staff are both assessing local

         18  trends in crystal meth use, and following this

         19  phenomenon nationwide, so as to address the problem

         20  as it exists here and now, while simultaneously

         21  endeavoring to be on the alert for the possibility

         22  that the future may be much different from today.

         23                 It's important that we strike the

         24  right balance. On the one hand, heeding what we see

         25  today, namely crystal meth use concentrated
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          2  primarily among gay and bisexual men, and the

          3  consequences of HIV and other sexually transmitted

          4  diseases, while monitoring to detect any further

          5  inroads crystal meth might make in this City, so

          6  that we can enhance prevention measures as needed.

          7                 Finally, we believe that it is also

          8  important to recognize that all of the New York City

          9  studies indicate that crystal meth is not the only

         10  club drug being used, and that ideally in our

         11  prevention and treatment planning and interventions

         12  will need to target other drugs of abuse as well.

         13                 Thank you. And I'm pleased to be

         14  here, and to take your questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you, Dr.

         16  Sederer.

         17                 The first question I want to ask is,

         18  how are we doing with the contract to make sure that

         19  the money that was allocated in this year's budget

         20  is moving forward?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  SEDERER: There are the designations for Fiscal '06,

         23  yes. There are three treatment programs and four

         24  prevention programs in that.

         25                 The treatment programs have been
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          2  identified, and we are proceeding as we speak now to

          3  write the contracts, so as to be able to issue those

          4  contracts as soon as we can. As you know, the wheels

          5  of government can move, do move slowly, but we're

          6  moving them as fast as we can. So, the three

          7  treatment programs are identified. We know the scope

          8  of service because it is treatment, and it's

          9  treatment as identified. So, we are working on that.

         10                 Maybe I can ask Mr. Larson to make

         11  some comments about the four prevention programs,

         12  because there have been ongoing discussions with

         13  them about how to do this, including a meeting that

         14  was held last Friday.

         15                 MR. LARSON: Good morning.

         16                 We had a meeting last week with 2005

         17  providers to gather feedback from them and lessons

         18  that we've learned about that.

         19                 We're going to begin to develop a

         20  scope of services for the proposals, and then we'll

         21  move forward from there.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay. I am not

         23  happy about that, and I'm going to tell you why I'm

         24  not happy. Last year I fight like hell here to get

         25  that money and to put it in place. And it took a
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          2  long time for that money to be released. And it got

          3  released at the last minute. And I learned a lot of

          4  tricks that are placed in this house, and in this

          5  government business, and one of the tricks that I

          6  learned is that we hold the money, don't give it

          7  out, and then we roll that money to the next budget,

          8  and we continue to pretend that we are feeling the

          9  needs of this City but what we're doing is recycling

         10  money.

         11                 I am not leaving this house without

         12  making sure that that money is released, and I don't

         13  see no reason why that contract for each and every

         14  one of the groups should not be done by next month.

         15  I don't see it. I don't understand it. And I am

         16  going to have another hearing on this in a month to

         17  find out where the contracts are. Because that

         18  contract needs to be done immediately. There is no

         19  reason why not. We have four groups that are doing

         20  the prevention, and I have a personal interest on

         21  the groups that are doing the treatment, and the

         22  reasons are clear. I think it's very important to

         23  stop people from using as soon as possible, to avoid

         24  possible contamination and transmission of HIV and

         25  other diseases. Then I'm clear that that is the
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          2  priority. But I also clear that unless I secure that

          3  that money is released immediately, it not going to

          4  be nobody in this house with the passion that I have

          5  to make that happen. Then I'm not leaving here

          6  without this, and I want to know what is it that

          7  stand in the way of making this happen, because I

          8  know about meetings and meetings and meetings that

          9  prevent this from happening.

         10                 Can you tell me where we are and

         11  where we're going to be in a month from now.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  SEDERER: I share your impatience with this process,

         14  and what that said, in the end it's always better if

         15  we can come to common ground with the agencies that

         16  are going to do the work, rather than dictate to

         17  them what needs to be done.

         18                 We actually went to the meeting with

         19  them, with a proposal about how to simplify and make

         20  uniform and bring in some expertise so that we could

         21  actually get this done and we think get it done in a

         22  more expedited way.

         23                 That said, they are very convinced

         24  that they know their populations, they know how to

         25  reach them, and that we ought to listen to them.
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          2                 So, that's why we could say, well,

          3  too bad, you know, or let's try to put our ideas

          4  together and come to a resolution in a prompt way.

          5                 I can assure you that we will convey

          6  your patience to these four agencies, and our

          7  impatience and our need to get this done so that we

          8  use the money and we use it as soon as possible, so

          9  that more people are prevented and so that the money

         10  is used this year. We will bring that urgency to the

         11  group, but that is the process that's going on right

         12  now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Well, then I'm

         14  going to be in the meeting.

         15                 MR. LARSON: And that will be great.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That would be

         17  wonderful, and then I'm going to listen to what the

         18  program is and listen how we resolve it, because

         19  this doesn't make sense.

         20                 MR. LARSON: We spoke about many

         21  issues at the meeting and one of the issues was also

         22  to meet with the treatment providers so that we

         23  could coordinate our ad campaigns together, in

         24  addition to providing prevention education, but also

         25  having the treatment providers be able to advertise
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          2  their services in conjunction to bring people into

          3  treatment as well.

          4                 I think there are also some issues

          5  with this funding that's eligible for an article 6

          6  match, and we want to make sure that all of those

          7  pieces are in place so there can be one total award,

          8  rather than two separate awards.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I mean, I hear

         10  you, but I have to tell you, when I learned that St.

         11  Vincent's Hospital was not able to put the detox

         12  program in place in the expeditious way that I was

         13  expecting, I was blown away.

         14                 And I learned that when I was

         15  campaigning on the street this summer. Then I'm

         16  sorry, but, no, it is not possible for me to expect

         17  that this money was not released as quickly as

         18  possible, knowing very well that we have the problem

         19  we have.

         20                 I mean, what you're telling me, it

         21  doesn't satisfy me. It doesn't make me happy. It

         22  doesn't tell me that this is moving forward, and

         23  that this need to be resolved. And I'm telling you,

         24  I'm giving you a deadline by the end of the month

         25  this issue need to be resolved. We don't need to
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          2  discuss this any longer. We know what we had to do,

          3  therefore, these contracts need to be done, period.

          4                 Then I am not going to be here next

          5  week. I deserve a vacation. Then I am coming back

          6  and I'm coming back with more energy, because when I

          7  go on vacation, it's lethal (sic), I come back

          8  refreshed. Then we going to have a meeting after I

          9  come back with everybody, and I want to understand

         10  why this money cannot be settled, the contract done,

         11  and I would like not to have to intervene. I would

         12  like this contract to be settled before I come back.

         13  Because I don't get it.

         14                 I am not going to be sitting here in

         15  the November modification and hear that some money

         16  is going to be taken away from this. I am not going

         17  to.

         18                 Okay, I hope that you understand me.

         19                 MR. LARSON: Absolutely.

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  SEDERER: Indeed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The detox programs

         23  were finally put in place or not?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  SEDERER: Yes. All the three agencies, the treatment
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          2  agencies have been, contracts have been established

          3  and for, they were finalized for '05, and they are

          4  in the process of being rewritten for '06.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then do we have

          6  data how many people have been treated there at this

          7  point?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  SEDERER: I don't have that with me, but I can tell

         10  you --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But do we have it?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  SEDERER: Yes, we do. There were two few people. It

         14  was a slow start, as you point out, and not that

         15  many people were engaged and that's our

         16  determination, is to get those programs working at

         17  much higher capacity this year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to know how

         19  many people were treated. I want to know when the

         20  program finally begin, and I want to know what is

         21  the protocol that they're using. I'm very curious to

         22  learn about that. And this is a personal curiosity

         23  that I have.

         24                 I want to know if the individuals

         25  that have been treated have become users again, if
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          2  that data exists. I want to know how successful the

          3  detox programs are and the treatment programs are.

          4  And I want to know if it's information in there that

          5  point out to us about possible transmission of HIV

          6  with those individuals who were treated in there.

          7  And I'm very curious about this information.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  SEDERER: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I need to educate

         11  myself more about how is it that this is happening

         12  in here, and how we can prevent this from

         13  continuing.

         14                 I'm very concerned about your

         15  testimony in regard of the federal program, not

         16  wanting to look at us. I understand that this

         17  problem can become very serious for us. Is there

         18  anything I can do to intervene on that?

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  SEDERER: I think anything that the Council registers

         21  at the State and Federal level can only help in

         22  terms of making New York much more highlighted and

         23  get us on their radar screen that that's not where

         24  the money is being distributed.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: All right.
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          2                 Had you had any conversation with the

          3  State Legislature in regard of $300,000 that was put

          4  together called methamphetamine Demonstration

          5  Program, under the Chair Peter Rivera on the State?

          6                 Do you know anything about that money

          7  that was allocated by the State and where that money

          8  went, and who have that demonstration program?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  SEDERER: The reason we're unfamiliar is we've been

         11  told that it hasn't been allocated yet, but it is to

         12  be allocated through OASAS, through the State

         13  agency.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: My understanding

         15  is that this is an attempt to do something

         16  statewide, $300,000. The Governor of this State

         17  doesn't cease to amaze me. Thank you to the Assembly

         18  for putting this money in place.

         19                 I guess it is .000000000 one penny

         20  per person in the state that this money is going to

         21  be allocated, something like that, I imagine, to

         22  fight crystal meth. Thank you, Governor Pataki, for

         23  your kindness of doing the good work to prevent the

         24  spread of crystal meth use in New York City and the

         25  rest of the State. Thank you very much. You are so
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          2  good and so kind. $300,000, wonderful.

          3                 We're going to stop the spread of

          4  this by that amount of money alone. I'll tell you

          5  I've been very cynical about it. If you find in your

          6  information in regard to that, if you find that the

          7  money has been increased or the money is going to be

          8  allocated from the State, I would like to know.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  SEDERER: We will inquire about it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This document that

         12  you gave me.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  SEDERER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Is distributed

         16  where?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  SEDERER: It's our Department of Health pool and it

         19  has a very wide distribution, but I don't, frankly,

         20  know the categories offhand. We use, there could be

         21  80 or 100,000 of those distributed around, but I

         22  frankly don't know the distribution.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Because the reason

         24  why I'm asking is because this is a kind of thing

         25  that should be given in every gay club by your
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          2  Department.

          3                 MR. LARSON: It is given out with

          4  Healthy Men's Night Out Program, and many of the

          5  outreach programs that we do, Gay Pride events.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do you have a

          7  group of people who go at night to every one of the

          8  places where people go for entertainment that is

          9  characterized as the gay lesbian transgender

         10  bisexual place, do you have any program that would

         11  distribute this at night to everyone who go in in

         12  there.

         13                 MR. LARSON: There are many funded

         14  programs by the Department of Health and Mental

         15  Hygiene for community-based organizations to do that

         16  work.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Do we know if that

         18  happened?

         19                 MR. LARSON: We can certainly get that

         20  information for you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You know, I'm an

         22  openly gay woman --

         23                 MR. LARSON: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And I have never

         25  seen this bulletin in any of those places. Although
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          2  I never go to those places.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  SEDERER: That explains it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I should have a

          6  social life. That maybe I should start going to see

          7  if this bulletin is given.

          8                 It would be a good idea because it's

          9  very informative and it's pretty good what is said.

         10                 My last question, some time ago Dr.

         11  Frieden came out very concerned and rightfully so

         12  with some cases of HIV that were resistant to

         13  medication. I want to know if the individual in

         14  question was a user of crystal meth; can that

         15  information be given to me?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  SEDERER: I don't know the question to that.

         18                 I don't know whether that is public

         19  information --

         20                 MR. LARSON: Yes, the information was

         21  made available that he was a user of crystal

         22  methamphetamine.

         23                 The reason I asked you that question

         24  is because at the time that I listened to Dr.

         25  Frieden, I found it difficult for me not to
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          2  understand why Dr. Frieden didn't make it very clear

          3  that the use of crystal meth diminish the immune

          4  system, and that that immune system diminishing will

          5  perhaps be responsible for the drugs that were given

          6  to fight back the HIV infection to be brought down.

          7  And I was wondering if the Department looked into

          8  that possibility, because this is known

          9  scientifically that the components of crystal meth

         10  diminish the immune systems of people, and I was

         11  curious to know if the Department pursue that, look

         12  at that, because it's important to let people know

         13  if that is the case, and if part of what we're

         14  seeing in the infection transmission has something

         15  to do with usually crystal meth diminishing your

         16  immune system, and at the same time practicing risky

         17  behavior increase the possibility of becoming

         18  infected.

         19                 MR. LARSON: Yes. The Bureau is

         20  conducting, the Bureau of HIV is conducting an

         21  ongoing investigation into all those issues. It's a

         22  very complex issue, though, because the immune

         23  system is so complex.

         24                 We have to find out if these are

         25  individual characteristics to this one person that
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          2  made his immune system so resistant, what did

          3  crystal methamphetamine play into that, and what did

          4  the actual strain of HIV that he had, what did that

          5  play into that as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Well, I want to

          7  give you a recommendation. I think it's important to

          8  let people know that if crystal meth contribute and

          9  create a diminishing in the strength of that you

         10  have in your immune system, that's information that

         11  should be given to people too, in big letters,

         12  because it's not only that you're using the drug for

         13  recreation, you're using the drugs also to destroy

         14  your physical being, even if you don't get infected

         15  with HIV. And my understanding is that when you

         16  start using this drug, a lot of your physical being

         17  become decayed, and the only explanation for that is

         18  because your immune system is not working, because

         19  that's the only way that that happen.

         20                 Part of my understanding is that, for

         21  example, your teeth become destroyed, and that's

         22  because bacteria gain power in there, and the only

         23  way that that happens is because your immune system

         24  is not working.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  SEDERER: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then very strongly

          4  I suggest to the Department to look into that and

          5  begin putting out there clear information in regard

          6  if there's an interaction between use of crystal

          7  meth, diminishing of your immune system, and how

          8  that can make you sick, and not only with HIV but

          9  with anything else that you can capture. Any other

         10  possible venereal disease that you can capture, or

         11  any other infection that can come through by the

         12  diminishing of your immune system by using the drug.

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  SEDERER: It's a very good point. And as you know,

         15  this is a very activist department that as soon as

         16  we have strong evidence, Dr. Frieden and all of us

         17  are out there banging the drum, but not into the

         18  evidence makes it clear in a way that to separate

         19  out was this an individual, specific to that

         20  individual, is this the impact of multiple drugs, is

         21  there something about this particular strain, you

         22  have to separate all those out, as Mr. Larson was

         23  saying, because otherwise when you come out very

         24  aggressively about a position and you can't defend

         25  it scientifically, then you've lost a battle, and we
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          2  don't like to lose battles.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I'm not asking for

          4  that. I'm asking for scientifically very clear

          5  stated positions, but I think that we should look

          6  into that, because I --

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  SEDERER: That's going on.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I found them very

         10  fascinating when the information came out, and I

         11  knew information about crystal meth and the

         12  components of it, and how affect the immune system,

         13  and I concluded myself there maybe was a core

         14  relationship, based on that.

         15                 Then two more weeks we're going to be

         16  talking and I want to hear that the contracts are

         17  settled. And I will be back and I will be in the

         18  meetings that you're going to have, and perhaps the

         19  meeting are going to last 15 minutes, it would

         20  resolve the problem perhaps.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  SEDERER: Very good.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you very

         24  much, and good seeing you today.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  SEDERER: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good-bye.

          4                 MS. DEPEDRO: Our next panel will

          5  consist of Dennis DeLeon, from the Latino Commission

          6  on AIDS, Laura Horwitz and Michael Ventrone from Gay

          7  Men's Health Crisis.

          8                 Barbara Warren from LGBT Center.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We need more

         10  chairs in there.

         11                 Council Member Foster, would you like

         12  to introduce yourself?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Good morning.

         14  Council Member Helen Foster from the Bronx.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         16                 Okay.

         17                 MS. DEPEDRO: At this moment can you

         18  all please raise your right hand? The panel, can you

         19  please raise your right hand? And can you swear or

         20  affirm that the testimony you will provide will be

         21  truthful in all concerns?

         22                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         23                 MS. DEPEDRO:  Thank you.

         24                 Mr. DeLeon, can you please begin?

         25                 MR. DELEON: Thank you. I'm not going
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          2  to go over and just read my testimony, I'm going to

          3  try and highlight some points that I believe need to

          4  be made.

          5                 When we first were approached by

          6  Council Member Lopez, I don't think any Latino

          7  leaders, and quite frankly, health officials,

          8  believed that this is a problem among the Latino MSM

          9  community.

         10                 In fact, Dr. Sederer, is that his

         11  name? Called our Finance Director and was directing

         12  that we focus solely on prevention, because Latinos

         13  don't use crystal meth. So, that that should be the

         14  focus of our grant, scope of work.

         15                 I was kind of surprised, so we

         16  decided to second guess him, to do some research,

         17  and we convened a number of focus groups, we did a

         18  number of interviews, and then we looked at the

         19  CHEST survey data, which showed that 63 percent of

         20  the Latino gay men going into clubs and to bars had

         21  used crystal meth. So, both the empirical data and

         22  all of our focus group research showed just the

         23  opposite.

         24                 So, why was that important? Because

         25  it had to inform our campaigns, it had to inform how
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          2  we shaped our campaigns. So, we went against the

          3  advice, initial advice, and I must say that I

          4  believe that today they're working in close

          5  partnership with the Department of Health and with

          6  Brett Larson, and I was pleased to hear Dr. Sederer

          7  say today that this is a problem of minority, people

          8  of color communities, because I believe he, like his

          9  learned what we have learned.

         10                 So, anyway, I want to highlight some

         11  disturbing trends I see in the way this funding is

         12  used. First, it seems to be -- I mean, I look at

         13  homeland security funding and how it seems to be a

         14  chicken in every pot, and I'm struck by the fact

         15  that so much of the funding is focused on Chelsea.

         16                 The people that we deal with live in

         17  Queens, they live in the Bronx. There are no

         18  treatment options or funded treatment options in

         19  Queens, and there's a massive gay community, we

         20  discovered a massive level, I mean large levels of

         21  crystal meth use in Queens especially.

         22                 Secondly, we discovered that we did

         23  some subcontracting with grassroots LGBT

         24  organizations, and we think that more attention

         25  needs to be paid to these grassroots organizations
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          2  who are closer to on the ground actually with these

          3  communities and we try to support their efforts

          4  through the grant that we got, so I would just ask

          5  that some attention be paid -- I don't want to upset

          6  the apple cart in terms of where the funding is

          7  going, but I would just ask people to think about

          8  Queens and to think about Brooklyn. And I must tell

          9  you that in the focus groups we held, many, many

         10  people, after their experience with crystal meth,

         11  were loathe to come to Chelsea. They would actually

         12  take steps to avoid even traveling through Chelsea,

         13  because for them it represented, it brought back

         14  many memories of their crystal meth experience.

         15                 So, I believe services, more services

         16  are needed in Chelsea, and I believe Chelsea is a

         17  site for a large segment of the MSM community, but I

         18  believe it also, treatment needs to be available

         19  elsewhere.

         20                 So, we focused our campaign in the

         21  Bronx and in Queens.

         22                 Secondly, I think while I'm not a law

         23  enforcement freak, I believe that there needs to be

         24  a clear signal from the legislators of the City

         25  Council and the Mayor that we know how this drug is
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          2  made, we know how the substances are obtained, and

          3  the fact that New York is lagging so far behind in

          4  terms of passing legislation that would make it --

          5  that would make pseudoepinephrine a controlled

          6  substance is shocking to me, given that we know what

          7  we know.

          8                 We're here to also testify in support

          9  of proposed resolution number 866-A. We think that

         10  that is an important step. It's admittedly, I think

         11  it's good prevention, but it's -- I think it's a

         12  measure which is so obviously right, I'm just

         13  surprised that after what we've been through the

         14  past two years still discussing this issue.

         15                 I want last to share with you what

         16  our recommendations were from the study which we did

         17  which was published and is available on our website.

         18                 First of all, we have to engage the

         19  Spanish media on this issue.

         20                 We found that the media work we did

         21  really raised awareness across the Latino community,

         22  but this is also a problem for Latinos. And that was

         23  very important in terms of not making the people

         24  feel so isolated.

         25                 Secondly, there needs to be a Spanish
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          2  language Internet campaign. Even on English language

          3  websites, because we found one problem was many

          4  limited English speakers would go to the English

          5  speaking man for man or Adam for Adam, whatever you

          6  call it, and they would go for a sex hookup and they

          7  would see party and play and they would not realize

          8  that party and play meant drugs.

          9                 So, you know, we need Spanish

         10  language on the Internet too.

         11                 Secondly, we need to support the

         12  creation of alternative social venues, based on

         13  healthy lifestyles, similar to the evidence-based

         14  empowerment model.

         15                 Now, the empowerment model is an HIV

         16  prevention model, but I believe it can also be used

         17  to address crystal meth use by creating a healthy

         18  community.

         19                 Second, to demystify Chelsea, for a

         20  lot of Latino immigrants, when they come here, they

         21  are so anxious to belong to what they see as the

         22  Chelsea community, that they lose perspective.

         23                 They lose perspective on their own

         24  communities, and they find themselves in trouble.

         25  You know, because they're misimpressions of what
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          2  Chelsea is all about.

          3                 Fifth. You know, to address the

          4  stigmas that isolate new immigrants who are gay,

          5  more -- make more mental health and treatment

          6  services available in the communities.

          7                 Next, to engage popular people in the

          8  Latino and gay community to carry the message on a

          9  one-to-one basis.

         10                 The campaign we ran had ads of two

         11  people talking, saying, you know, talk about HIV and

         12  crystal meth. Because we think that these one-on-one

         13  conversations, the more we can foster them, the

         14  better we're going to have a chance of making

         15  meaningful lasting change, more than putting subway

         16  and phone booth ads, I believe the more we can

         17  foster one-on-one conversations, and that's called

         18  the popular opinion leader model, and I believe is

         19  very applicable to this kind of prevention also.

         20                 Next. To get more Latino health and

         21  drug treatment providers to realize there's a

         22  problem, and to develop gay identified programs.

         23  It's no mistake that the reason why people are going

         24  to Callen Lord, which is really the model of

         25  excellence for LGBT treatment in our community, is
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          2  because it's the only gay identified health provider

          3  in the City just about, but we have other health

          4  providers and other drug treatment programs that

          5  have large resources and mammoth facilities, and

          6  they need to develop gay identified programs too.

          7                 We need more Spanish language

          8  treatment programs. At the time we did our study,

          9  there was only one crystal meth support group being

         10  held in Spanish.

         11                 Lastly, we need to develop -- we need

         12  to be more subtle about our campaigns. We discovered

         13  that our community does not respond to the "This is

         14  your brain on drugs," two fried eggs in a frying

         15  pan, those kinds of ads. And those kinds of scare'em

         16  ads. Because the real challenge we found is to

         17  really target and convince the casual users.

         18                 There are so many people we found who

         19  would say in our focus groups, casual use is okay.

         20  And they said it to our faces. You know, they knew

         21  we were concerned, they knew what our event was, but

         22  they said casual use is perfectly normal. You know,

         23  and we think that a campaign needs to squarely

         24  address casual use by not frightening people, but

         25  somehow reaching them with the fact that there often
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          2  times is a tipping point for that.

          3                 And lastly, there is what I call we

          4  need to target the worried well. These are people

          5  who are around people that use crystal meth, and

          6  what they told us is they see all of their friends

          7  having so much fun. They see their friends having

          8  great sex, they see their friends staying up all

          9  night partying, and they're wondering why the hell

         10  don't I use this drug, you know, because -- and I

         11  think we need to systematically reach out to this

         12  population, because it is a sizeable population,

         13  because crystal meth is so prevalent. There's a lot

         14  of these, I called worried well, who actually are

         15  drawn in by what they're seeing, because often times

         16  they don't see the horrors of it.

         17                 So, anyway, and lastly, on the

         18  contracting process. With all due respect, it was a

         19  nightmare. We did not receive our final contract til

         20  July after the fiscal year ended. And we were told

         21  that we were being fast tracked by the

         22  Administration.

         23                 And, you know, I don't know, we tried

         24  to follow it to the best of our ability but you have

         25  to do something, you really have to do something.
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          2                 We spent a lot of money that we don't

          3  have, and we don't have deep pockets, but we started

          4  anyway. We began placing ads. We began hiring

          5  people, we did all the things we were supposed to do

          6  in this contract, and eventually we did get

          7  reimbursed, but to wait a year til a contract gets

          8  included is ludicrous. It's just ludicrous.

          9                 And given the City contracting

         10  process, I really think it's going to happen again

         11  this year. I really do, given the review by Corp

         12  Counsel, given the role of the ACCO, and given the

         13  way the City processes contracts, everything is

         14  working to that end.

         15                 So, I just wish, I want to join with

         16  you in this fight to ensure timely contracting

         17  provisions.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 MS. HORWITZ: Good morning. My name is

         20  Laura Horwitz. I'm with GMHC. I'm one of the

         21  Associate Directors at the Institute for Gay Men's

         22  Health. I'd also like to ask my colleague to

         23  introduce himself as well.

         24                 MR. VENTRONE: My name is Michael

         25  Ventrone. And I'm a Health Specialist, Prevention
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          2  Health Specialist. Prevention Health Specialist at

          3  the Institute for Gay Men's Health.

          4                 MS. HORWITZ: Thank you for the

          5  invitation to be here this morning.

          6                 Funding granted to Gay Men's Health

          7  Crisis has allowed the agency to more efficiently

          8  reach the identified and other men who have sex with

          9  men who use crystal meth, or who may contemplate its

         10  use, with important prevention information and

         11  resources.

         12                 Specifically with these funds, GMHC's

         13  Institute for Gay Men's Health has developed

         14  targeted and high profile social marketing campaigns

         15  and informational materials for dissemination in the

         16  environments and localities where use is prevalent.

         17                 Further, the Institute has been able

         18  to develop and tailor these materials to target gay

         19  and bisexual men of color.

         20                 In the first round of funding, our

         21  campaign raised awareness about the dangers of

         22  crystal use. In its messaging, it drew a link

         23  between crystal use and HIV transmission.

         24                 As part of the Institute's strategy

         25  to reach gay men, GMHC oversaw placement of the
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          2  campaign in multiple key settings, including bus

          3  shelters and subway entrances and designated

          4  hot-spot neighborhoods, and banner ads on targeted

          5  websites.

          6                 An additional component to this

          7  campaign included the development of a comprehensive

          8  informational booklet on crystal meth entitled

          9  Crystal: What You Need to Know.

         10                 This booklet provided harm-reduction

         11  information for gay men and was distributed on line

         12  to sister organizations around the country, and in

         13  targeted New York City settings.

         14                 When evaluated, the booklet was

         15  praised by gay men because it offered factual

         16  information about the physical consequences of

         17  sustained crystal use and practical suggestions for

         18  minimizing or eliminating risk.

         19                 As part of the second round of

         20  funding, GMHC began its efforts with formative

         21  research to drive the development of a social

         22  marketing campaign.

         23                 We felt strongly that it was time to

         24  nuance our messages by integrating the voices of gay

         25  men at high risk for crystal addiction and HIV
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          2  infection.

          3                 To that end, the Institute's

          4  Community-based Research Team conducted 18 90-minute

          5  interviews with gay and bisexual men of color.

          6                 The interviews aimed to gain a

          7  greater understanding of the underlying motivations

          8  of crystal use for men of color.

          9                 The key themes that emerged were

         10  related to homophobia, self- and social acceptance,

         11  and the importance of sex and partying in men's

         12  lives.

         13                 Friendship in geographic networks

         14  also were indicated as playing a key role in

         15  influencing use.

         16                 Also, men reported using different

         17  drugs at different times in different locations.

         18  This included using crystal.

         19                 One of the important things that we

         20  learned from our interviews was that crystal and

         21  crystal use is perceived as highly stigmatized by

         22  gay and bisexual men of color, and that this stigma

         23  may be creating a disincentive to accessing

         24  information and support.

         25                 Interviewees told us that many gay
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          2  and bisexual men of color who may be poly-substance

          3  users are probably less likely to reveal that they

          4  are using crystal as a result of the stigma they

          5  felt.

          6                 While men we interviewed understood

          7  the importance of, and strongly requested crystal

          8  prevention campaigns that reflect the hard realities

          9  associated with sustained crystal use, they drew a

         10  distinction between reality-based and fear-based

         11  campaigning.

         12                 They felt that fear-based or

         13  sensationalized campaigning minimized the

         14  credibility of the message and added to the stigma

         15  already associated with crystal.

         16                 In collaboration with our community

         17  partners, people of color in crisis and Hispanic

         18  AIDS Forum, we used these findings to inform the

         19  development of the next phase of GMHC's campaign.

         20  Entitled "Let's Deal With The Real Issues," GMHC's

         21  new campaign will feature men of color and will

         22  focus on raising awareness about the underlying

         23  motivations for crystal use.

         24                 A venue-based teaser campaign sent to

         25  launch in October will include crystal balls and
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          2  simulated crystal baggies as jewel metaphors to draw

          3  attention to the question, are you looking for

          4  answers here?

          5                 In November, the Campaign will be

          6  launched in bus shelters, urban panels and posters.

          7  Additionally, public service announcements will run

          8  on flat screened televisions and projectors in

          9  specified venues and will appear on targeted

         10  websites.

         11                 GMHC will follow the campaign launch

         12  with a community forum in late fall. Let's Deal With

         13  The Real Issues Campaign will also be evaluated in

         14  early December.

         15                 We look forward to the opportunity to

         16  implement and evaluate this campaign. Much of our

         17  formulative and evaluative research has indicated

         18  that there is a pressing need for sustained and

         19  nuance public communication about crystal and the

         20  impact of crystal on various communities.

         21                 This initiative provides an

         22  opportunity to meet this need.

         23                 And I'd also just like to add, I'd

         24  like to echo the sentiment around the contract

         25  process. We experience similar frustrations. And as
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          2  far as moving forward, for us we hope that there's a

          3  room for a variety of interventions related to

          4  crystal use.

          5                 And for us, particularly social

          6  marketing is an extraordinarily important

          7  intervention because it's looking at the community

          8  as a whole and making an attempt to change social

          9  norms, and that's one of the things that we think

         10  should really be highlighted here.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MS. WARREN: Good morning. I'm Barbara

         13  Warren. I'm the Director for Organizational

         14  Development, Planning and Research at the Lesbian,

         15  Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Community Center in

         16  New York City.

         17                 I want to thank the Council, and I

         18  particularly want to thank Councilwoman Lopez for

         19  outstanding leadership on this critical, and

         20  actually crisis proportion issue.

         21                 I came with some testimony that I

         22  actually had given to Jennifer earlier, and just so

         23  you know, this was testimony that, actually it's not

         24  new, it's what we submitted to the State

         25  Legislature, and to OASAS.
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          2                 We also submitted to the

          3  Congressional, the US Congressional Bipartisan Task

          4  Force on Crystal Meth Amphetamine, who the Center,

          5  in conjunction with LGBT, the national LGBT Health

          6  Coalition went to Washington last winter and spring

          7  to talk to them about the necessity. Because you

          8  were asking earlier, Councilwoman Lopez, about what

          9  the feds are doing and why, and we have been very,

         10  very active, the center, along with our allies in

         11  campaigning at the federal level, to get more money

         12  allocated from the feds to urban areas, and to New

         13  York State in general, because we have found working

         14  with our New York State partners, not just here but

         15  Buffalo, Rochester, you know, the whole state, that

         16  it's a growing and emerging crisis in other gay and

         17  straight communities in New York State.

         18                 So, Jennifer has this document, and

         19  we did submit it. And in fact, it did result in the

         20  allocation of $300,000 from this year's state budget

         21  to OASAS to meet the crystal meth problem.

         22                 There are some, we don't know yet who

         23  exactly is going to get the money.

         24                 We did ask for $5 million. Jeff

         25  Dinowitz, actually who is the Chair of the
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          2  Assembly's Alcohol and Drug Committee, is, you know,

          3  from the New York City Delegation, was the lead on

          4  this, but we had support from all of the folks in

          5  the whole Manhattan Delegation. And he asked for 2.4

          6  million, what we got was 300,000. But he's not

          7  giving up, so he's an ally at the State level, as

          8  are our Assembly and Senator folks from New York

          9  City.

         10                 We continue to press for that and we

         11  continue to press for federal money.

         12                 I also just want to say that the

         13  Mayor did write a letter, Mayor's Office did write a

         14  letter in support of our request for federal

         15  funding, to the bipartisan task force, as did

         16  Senator Schumer and Clinton.

         17                 So, we do have some federal support.

         18  They also have all of our Congressional

         19  representatives, as do our Senators, have a copy of

         20  this document that I gave to you. So, they are in

         21  the know.

         22                 A couple of quick things. I went to

         23  the Utah conference, the big conference that was

         24  attacked by Representative Sauder (phonetic), and I

         25  just want to reinforce, all the research data really
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          2  is in and it's irrefutable that there is a strong

          3  and positive correlation between new HIV infections

          4  and methamphetamine use in gay populations.

          5                 So, this is not something that we

          6  don't know, or there isn't enough research about.

          7  There's tons of research.

          8                 There's also some indicators now that

          9  there's a similar trend amongst straight

         10  populations, where there wasn't as much pre-existing

         11  HIV infection, but, in fact, it's rising in straight

         12  populations that chronically use crystal

         13  methamphetamine.

         14                 There are a bunch of new detox

         15  protocols out there that are being tested, some that

         16  have been done in New York. I am eager to see the

         17  results of what the St. Luke's Roosevelt Program has

         18  done, what Callen Lorde has done.

         19                 I also know that Richard Rossen is

         20  heading a study out of University of Texas that's

         21  looking at medical amphetamine in small doses as an

         22  experimental protocol for treating chronic and

         23  heavily addicted methamphetamine users.

         24                 It is true, though, that there isn't

         25  a protocol yet that is scientifically supported in

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  terms of clinical trials and evidence, but there is

          3  some early data that has proved promising.

          4                 The other thing I just want to raise

          5  your attention to is that the new issue that's

          6  emerging, another health risk, and you brought it up

          7  when you were talking about immunosuppression and

          8  HIV. There is some indication in the west that there

          9  is increasing, and I hate to be the bearer of bad

         10  news, but I looked at this and I said, ut-oh, this

         11  is what makes prevention an early intervention even

         12  more important. There are some indications that

         13  MDRS, or multiple drug-resistant staff is on the

         14  increase in chronic meth users, and that certainly

         15  would not be good news in particularly an already

         16  immuno-suppressed populations in New York City.

         17                 So, that's another thing I just

         18  wanted to bring to your attention.

         19                 I want to say that the New York State

         20  Office of Alcohol and Substance Abuse Services has

         21  tried to be supportive with what resources they have

         22  had, and I did want to just mention that one of the

         23  things that is happening right now that might help,

         24  in terms of bringing more resources around the issue

         25  of crystal meth and other drug addiction in the LGBT
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          2  community, is that the center has officially

          3  submitted its license application to become the

          4  first LGBT licensed outpatient chemical dependency

          5  treatment program in a community-based setting, and

          6  that OASAS is supporting it, it's already in the

          7  review process. They're going to fast track it and

          8  they're actually going to give us some fiscal

          9  support.

         10                 Part of the reason they're doing this

         11  is because of the pressure coming from New York City

         12  on them to do something about the crystal meth

         13  issue, and so this will enable the center actually

         14  to become a licensed community-based chemical

         15  dependency treatment program, and that will

         16  certainly enable us to offer more services to

         17  populations in need of community-based treatment,

         18  and we're very, very excited about that. And we look

         19  to the City's support around this license

         20  application.

         21                 Finally, I just wanted to announce

         22  that on Thursday, September 29th, the center is

         23  sponsoring a forum, Breaking Up With Tina. A lot of

         24  the agencies that have been funded are going to be

         25  there in this initiative, we're going to try and
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          2  give people information about what it takes along

          3  the continuum of use to get up to get support.

          4                 One of the frustrations we had with

          5  the last contract is that we were told that we

          6  couldn't use any of the money for any kind of like

          7  community education or community forums that you

          8  couldn't really use it for services, we had to use

          9  it for primary prevention and electronic and print

         10  media campaigns, and although there's a lot of value

         11  in that and all of my colleagues have already

         12  testified, and I concur with all of them about

         13  what's needed around those print media campaigns and

         14  those electronic media campaigns particularly, we'd

         15  like to translate our very successful website into

         16  Spanish. We don't have the resources at the moment

         17  to do it.

         18                 I also want to say that print media

         19  and electronic media campaigns alone are

         20  insufficient. That people then, when people get

         21  engaged and they want to know more, we have to have

         22  low threshold community venues that they can come to

         23  and engage in conversation. They just can't see an

         24  add and then react to it and then say I'd like to

         25  talk about this some more, but I'm not ready to
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          2  present myself as an addict in a treatment program

          3  that we need a continuum of sort of places where

          4  people can come and talk. And some of them won't

          5  even come to our agencies, so the idea of the

          6  popular opinion leader, or the empowerment campaign,

          7  or doing things in other venues I think is

          8  absolutely brilliant. I think we need to fund it,

          9  and I think we need to pursue it and I think it

         10  should be allowed in our upcoming contracts.

         11                 Finally, the last thing I just want

         12  to bring to your attention is that we have a new

         13  cohort of folks that really need some help and need

         14  a focus, and I think what we're going to look to do

         15  with some money, should we be able to get it in the

         16  next round, is a family, friend, peers and lovers

         17  focus.

         18                 We had a lot of people coming to us

         19  who don't necessarily use crystal, but are close to,

         20  or involved with somebody who does. And they don't

         21  just need information, they need help to deal with

         22  the impact on them.

         23                 They also need help not to get

         24  dragged into the problem, because sometimes, you

         25  know, if you can't beat them, you'll join them. So
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          2  we have found that we need to do a separate effort

          3  that's really focused on significant others, and

          4  that runs the gamut from employers to lovers, and we

          5  actually are going to have a presentation in our

          6  Breaking Up With Crystal, Breaking Up With Tina

          7  Forum on family, friends, lovers, peers and

          8  concerned others.

          9                 So, I do want to say that the support

         10  that we've gotten today has been very effective. As

         11  a long-time prevention professional, it's never

         12  over. There's no magic bullet. There are many, many,

         13  many different ways to do this. We have to keep

         14  doing it until the drug is no longer in existence,

         15  we're going to have to keep doing ongoing prevention

         16  campaigns, and they need to be diverse, and they

         17  need to be targeted to different populations.

         18                 One last thing, and then I'll

         19  relinquish the microphone. We were the, I think we

         20  were the only ones, and I hope my colleagues don't

         21  get mad at me if I'm wrong, but we were the only

         22  ones that targeted kids in this round. We decided,

         23  and from our data, young people, and when I say

         24  young people, I mean under the age of 18, young

         25  people between -- right now we have kids as young as
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          2  12 years old coming to the Center's youth program,

          3  and the average age of young people participating in

          4  our youth program dropped from 18 a few years ago to

          5  like 15 now. That's good because that means kids are

          6  coming out younger, earlier, they're coming and

          7  getting help. But it also means we have to change

          8  the way we do business. It's a totally different

          9  developmental group.

         10                 And one of the things that we did is

         11  we looked out there and we saw there was nothing

         12  targeted to adolescents at all about crystal. So,

         13  one of the big campaigns we ran in the last funding

         14  that you gave us was targeted to 15 year olds as the

         15  average age.

         16                 We did put the posters up around in

         17  different venues. We went to the East Village, we

         18  went to Harlem and we also went to Chelsea, and we

         19  went near the schools, and one of the interesting

         20  things was a lot of straight young kids were looking

         21  at our posters, because we ran them in June, not

         22  just gay kids, and we got some contact.

         23                 It would be really helpful if the

         24  City could help us with evaluation. It's the other

         25  thing that my colleagues haven't mentioned yet.
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          2                 We don't have the resources to find

          3  that if what we're doing works, and you asked a lot

          4  of questions about that early on, about the

          5  treatment programs, we also need to know if these

          6  prevention and early intervention programs are

          7  working.

          8                 We were told there was going to be

          9  some street intercepts through the Department of

         10  Health. I don't know where they are on that, but we

         11  need to set up a mechanism to ensure that we can

         12  have some feedback about how effective these

         13  campaigns are being in the next round, and that

         14  costs some money, and we -- it's probably going to

         15  be more than we can do with existing allocation, but

         16  somebody somewhere needs to take the responsibility

         17  for that.

         18                 Once again, I thank you for your

         19  support. I also thank all of my colleagues who are

         20  here, who have been doing an amazing job with not

         21  enough resources and I look forward to continuing to

         22  work with both the City Council and the Department

         23  of Health and Mental Health and my colleagues on

         24  combatting this crisis.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

          3                 Before I proceed with question, I've

          4  been informed that we are being visited and observed

          5  and photographed by the Police Department of

          6  Germany. The Police Department of New York

          7  photograph me a lot. Then I'm not surprised that you

          8  are photographing us too.

          9                 Oh, Austria, as well. I love the

         10  music from there. I apologize if I make a mistake.

         11                 Welcome to New York City. And you

         12  look very nice up there. Now, the women that are

         13  sitting in between you are police officers too, or

         14  not? All of the women are police officers?

         15                 We have a problem in this City with

         16  that issue. I hope that we can resolve it. And do

         17  you have members of the Police Department that are

         18  gay, lesbian, transgender, bisexual openly in the

         19  Department?

         20                 You don't? Shame on you if you don't.

         21  You should improve that.

         22                 This is a Committee on Mental Health,

         23  Mental Retardation and Alcohol, Substance Abuse, and

         24  Disability Services.

         25                 My name is Margarita Lopez. I am one
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          2  of the openly gay members of this Council, and

          3  Council Member Foster will introduce herself. She's

          4  one of the most beautiful women in this Council.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Welcome. I'm

          6  Council Member Helen Diane Foster. I represent the

          7  Bronx.

          8                 It's very nice to have you here. I

          9  don't know if you're going to be able to get next

         10  door but there are other Council members here, so

         11  welcome and enjoy yourself.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I am going to

         13  continue with the hearing but I'm going to ask you

         14  for a favor.

         15                 If I go and visit Germany, and I

         16  participate in a demonstration in Austria, please do

         17  not arrest me. I'm a good person, and I stand for

         18  justice. Then God bless you and enjoy your time

         19  here.

         20                 I like your uniform, by the way. It's

         21  very nice. All right, Helen, do you have any

         22  questions?

         23                 Go ahead.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 Good morning. I'm interested in
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          2  finding out with the Latino Commission on AIDS, and

          3  this is my own ignorance, because when I hear, and

          4  coming to the hearings I became more educated, but

          5  how prevalent is the use in, like a borough, I

          6  represent the Bronx, the Highbridge area, one of the

          7  highest HIV areas in the City, how prevalent are you

          8  seeing, if at all, in specifically black and Latino

          9  communities in boroughs like the Bronx or Brooklyn?

         10                 MR. DELEON: Well, our information is

         11  largely anecdotal, but the Health Department tends

         12  to focus all their efforts in Chelsea, so they

         13  really don't give you any information about what's

         14  happening in the Bronx or in Queens or in Brooklyn.

         15  And that's a shame because gay people of color live

         16  in those boroughs, and in fact, treatment services

         17  aren't available in those boroughs, the kind of

         18  prevention support programs aren't available in the

         19  boroughs, and I think it's wrong.

         20                 But our anecdotes from the focus

         21  groups and from the key informant interviews we did

         22  tell us that among immigrants, and our focus was

         23  Spanish-speaking immigrants, they were mostly from

         24  the Bronx, mostly from Queens, a few from Brooklyn,

         25  and the use was at level -- I mean, ours was not a
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          2  scientific survey but the use was around 63, 65

          3  percent, and equal to the white gay population.

          4                 This is why we were so shocked by the

          5  statements we got from the Health Department when we

          6  received the grant.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I have to make a

          8  clarification on this because I need to go back to

          9  the history of how we developed this issue, and one

         10  of the individuals who was involved in ringing the

         11  bell is sitting here right now.

         12                 Let me clarify one thing. When this

         13  issue was raised, it was raised by the gay male

         14  white community because it was an epidemic there.

         15                 And when I began trying to get more

         16  information on it, I was literally questioned by the

         17  Latino and African American community about what I

         18  was doing, because my concern at the time was that

         19  that this problem is really only in the white male

         20  gay community, always bigger, and our community, the

         21  African American and the Latino community, told me

         22  that I was wrong, and that I should not be looking

         23  into that, because those two communities were not

         24  using crystal meth. And this was a statement that

         25  was made, you know, in very strong ways, and I have
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          2  to say, Anna Oliveda was the one who sat with me and

          3  said, Margarita, don't settle for that information.

          4  I believe that crystal meth is in communities of

          5  color.

          6                 We don't have the proof right now to

          7  show you but she told me that we should not assume

          8  that was only in the gay community white male. That

          9  we need to look further.

         10                 Then based on the original

         11  information, and the resistance of communities of

         12  color to the approach that I did on this in the

         13  beginning, was that this funding became to be

         14  allocated in Chelsea.

         15                 The reason why I wanted to look at it

         16  further, and the reason why the Latino Commission on

         17  AIDS got money, was because I wanted to investigate

         18  if was true or not, that was only in one community.

         19  And then when the Latino Commission on AIDS begin

         20  looking on it, the information begin coming further.

         21                 Anna Oliveda and GMHC also was

         22  involving looking for finding this true or not that

         23  the issue was spread beyond it.

         24                 Then it's not the Department. I have

         25  to say it was a problem between all of us in which
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          2  we did not conclude in the beginning that the

          3  problem of crystal meth was beyond gay white male in

          4  Chelsea. And thank God we are beyond that now, and

          5  we are understanding that this is more than a

          6  particular group, and thank God of that, because my

          7  fear is that this is going to become the crack

          8  epidemic in communities of color.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well, thank

         10  you for that.

         11                 I think it's important to understand

         12  also historically black and Latino communities tend

         13  to act like ostriches with their heads in the sand,

         14  things that we are uncomfortable with. So, that

         15  having been said, I understood.

         16                 But the reason I am asking this line

         17  of questioning is because, like I said, the area I

         18  represent, I have five monthly meetings with

         19  different community groups with information. I think

         20  part of our job as legislators is also to be

         21  conduits of information, and getting the information

         22  out to the people.

         23                 And as I said, in my understanding,

         24  as it was presented to me, I very much thought the

         25  same way, that it was a white male gay problem, but
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          2  what we find is eventually, not even eventually but

          3  working side-by-side, it's something that's

          4  occurring in the Latino community and the black

          5  community and just may be going under the radar.

          6                 So, I would just, I'm going to ask my

          7  staff person to give you a card so whatever

          8  information that's coming out of the Latino

          9  Commission you could forward to me so that we could

         10  assist in getting the information out.

         11                 So, thank you. And I just have one

         12  more question. Ms. Horwitz, when you say it's a

         13  stigma with the gay and bisexual men of color, what

         14  is the stigma, and where is that coming from?

         15                 MS. HORWITZ: We spent a lot of time

         16  in in-depth interviews talking about stigma, and the

         17  focus on this was very interesting. There are a lot

         18  of different ways that crystal, the drug, and

         19  crystal users are stigmatized, and what came up

         20  very, very often would be that people would say, oh,

         21  I don't want to be seen as using crystal, I don't

         22  want people to think of me as a crack head. Which we

         23  thought was very interesting, particularly because

         24  of what that connotes along the lines of race and

         25  class.
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          2                 We also heard a lot of gay black men

          3  who said things along the lines of, "I'm a gay black

          4  man who uses crystal, and I don't feel that I have a

          5  place to go to talk about my crystal use because I'm

          6  a black man. I'm also a gay man." So, there was this

          7  split identity that they were struggling with and

          8  not feeling like there were enough places for them

          9  to go as a person of color, for them to speak about

         10  this.

         11                 So, that was part of the stigma

         12  associated with that.

         13                 And also to speak a little bit to

         14  your earlier question, I think there is simply not

         15  enough research on gay and bisexual men of color's

         16  use in New York City. I think there is an

         17  extraordinary dearth and when there is research and

         18  not to conflate (phonetic) crystal and the HIV

         19  epidemic, recently we saw the release of the CDC

         20  data in June, that 46 percent of black gay men are

         21  HIV positive. And virtually there has been no media

         22  response.

         23                 So, even when there is this response,

         24  we're talking about one and two black, gay men who

         25  are HIV positive, and we're seeing -- we see nothing
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          2  around this. And to us that's frightening.

          3                 MR. DELEON: Can I comment also?

          4                 I mean, the reason, you know, I go on

          5  about Chelsea, but the reason why the programs that

          6  are being funded are primarily in Chelsea, is

          7  because that's where the gay identified programs

          8  are.

          9                 The Bronx has the Bronx Lesbian and

         10  Gay Health Network. That's I think about the only

         11  LGBT health program in the Bronx, and I've spoken to

         12  Permessa, to VIP Community Services, I've spoken to

         13  a couple of other programs and they aren't seeing

         14  crystal meth, and I asked them, do you have a gay

         15  identified -- they're not seeing it, no. Because I

         16  said do you have a gay-identified program that we

         17  would be welcome into the LGBT community, and they

         18  said no. A drug use is drug use. You know, and I

         19  believe that if you have that attitude, you're never

         20  going to see the problem. And I believe that they

         21  need to become more welcome to the LGBT community.

         22                 In Queens is a bit of a different

         23  story. In Queens there are a lot of grassroots

         24  organizations we work with that have been very

         25  effective in carrying the prevention message to the
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          2  community. And we've used that. We've taken our

          3  money and given it to others.

          4                 In fact, we gave money to the Queens

          5  Project of Hispanic AIDS Forum. We gave money to the

          6  Ecuadorian gay community, we gave money to the

          7  Colombian Gay community, all which have specific

          8  plans.

          9                 So, until we have more of an LGBT

         10  presence in health services and in those boroughs, I

         11  think we're going to be I think kind of dealing with

         12  this. I consider it a bad outcome that everything is

         13  focused in Chelsea, because a lot of people don't

         14  want to come to Chelsea. And because of associations

         15  with bad outcomes.

         16                 And I want to address Council Member

         17  Lopez's statement, we're not upset with the Health

         18  Department over them having the same level of

         19  ignorance that we had. My only problem was them

         20  dictating what our contract should be based on that

         21  ignorance in the first instance. That's the only

         22  thing --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I did not

         24  misunderstood (sic) you then as I just wanted to

         25  clarify, and I agree with you, that the Health
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          2  Department tend to be heavy handed into the way that

          3  they want to dictate the way the contract is. And

          4  that I agree. But I needed to clarify.

          5                 And I want to clarify further the

          6  reason why the money went to Chelsea was because it

          7  was a refusal to admit or to deal with the reality

          8  that crystal meth was used beyond that area.

          9                 I have to confront a wall in regard

         10  to that when I tried to reach out in groups that can

         11  come into this Council to talk to me about the use

         12  of crystal meth in the Bronx, because I couldn't

         13  believe that this drug was used only down there. I

         14  mean, I couldn't believe it. To me it was ludicrous.

         15  But it was impossible for me to get somebody, or

         16  people, or group of people, to come forward and said

         17  we are having this problem in the Bronx, we are

         18  having this problem in Queens. Then I needed to deal

         19  with the problem as the problem was put in place,

         20  and as the problem became to manifest themself, and

         21  the initiative that was taken by the community in

         22  the west side of this island in the lower part, and

         23  I believe that's why that was due to.

         24                 The good news is that I didn't listen

         25  to what I was told not to do, and now we know that
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          2  the crystal meth is in other places, and now we know

          3  that from now on the funding had to be spread more

          4  into touching those other areas. Then that's the

          5  good news of that.

          6                 MS. WARREN: I'm chomping at the bit

          7  here. Listen, I'm a little frustrated, I just want

          8  to say, we've known for a long time, and I'm little

          9  frustrated with there's no data, there's no data.

         10  There isn't like reams of data but there is data.

         11  I've been working with CHESS since 2000 on this

         12  issue and they've been collecting data as well as

         13  we've been collecting data, and I love all the

         14  latest anecdotal stuff, I think it's really

         15  important, I think the focus groups are important, I

         16  totally support everything my colleagues are doing.

         17  However, we've known for a long time that this has

         18  been an issue in communities of color. The first

         19  round of funding the center got we also shared it.

         20  We went up to Harlem and we worked with Harlem

         21  United and we did a campaign that was targeted to

         22  men of color.

         23                 We went to the Panthers, which is the

         24  Gay Black Leather Organization, and we cobranded a

         25  campaign and ran a whole series of outreach in
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          2  leather clubs with them, and all of us I think have

          3  been doing that, and have been sharing the resources

          4  and reaching out.

          5                 We've known for a long time that we

          6  see a merging data in communities of color. I just

          7  came back from the Utah conference, it was reems of

          8  evidence and reams of studies. My colleague Rafael

          9  Diaz in San Francisco has done a great study on

         10  Latino men, gay men and MSMs on the West Coast, do

         11  we have to wait til we have people addicted in NIH

         12  research studies which take ten years to know that

         13  if we see trends in the data we do have, we need to

         14  embark on an early prevention and intervention

         15  campaign.

         16                 We know that now, there's plenty of

         17  data. Black Gay menus it, Latino Gay menus it, Asian

         18  Gay menus it. We need to now move forward and stop

         19  bemoaning there is no data. There is data.

         20                 MR. DELEON: Barbara, tremendous

         21  comments.

         22                 Remember how HIV was discovered by

         23  this country? It seems like people become aware of a

         24  problem when it occurs in the white gay community.

         25  It's then after it's been around awhile, that they
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          2  say, oh, there's a second wave, and it's happening

          3  among black and Latino gay men.

          4                 In reality it's never been a second

          5  wave, it's always been there.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: One wave.

          7                 MR. DELEON: That's all.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: What I'd like

          9  to do is just make sure everyone has my card,

         10  because, again, you know, I'm smart enough to know I

         11  don't know what I'm doing with this, but I think

         12  just like, that's why I was shaking my head so

         13  adamantly, we always look at things as a second

         14  wave, not understanding it's concurrent. It's

         15  happening in the white gay community, then it's

         16  happening in the black and Latino Community, for

         17  whatever reason we're going under the radar, but the

         18  important thing is that if there is information to

         19  get out, and maybe I can be of some assistance in

         20  working with these health organizations in the Bronx

         21  to at least get them to acknowledge that this is a

         22  sector that exists, and how can we treat it, because

         23  I think the dilemma that you proposed in terms of a

         24  black, gay man who uses crystal meth, is what

         25  happens with people of color in dealing with
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          2  homosexuality in traditional settings that, like I

          3  said, we've been ostriches with our head in the

          4  sand, if we don't see it, it doesn't exist.

          5                 Then the reality of the situation is

          6  people are dying in the community. So, however, we

          7  can get the information out, that's what's important

          8  to me.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you for the

         11  voting of the resolution that we are asking the

         12  state to try to control somehow the main ingredient

         13  of this drug, not to be sold over the counter, and

         14  we need to ask the State because it's over their

         15  jurisdiction to put this in place, then we are

         16  trying to pass a resolution today in regard to that.

         17  I'm going to ask Council Member Brewer to introduce

         18  herself and we're going to be calling Charlie for

         19  the vote on this.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Gale Brewer,

         21  representing the West Side of Manhattan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes, at this

         23  moment I want to thank you for coming today here.

         24                 I want to reassure you that I am

         25  going to become very impatient about the contract to
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          2  be done in the next month maximum. This cannot be

          3  stretched. This contract need to be done and you're

          4  going to be hearing from me and whoever is stopping

          5  the process.

          6                 Well, we may have a fight between

          7  ourselves, but the important thing is that the

          8  service be done, and given, okay?

          9                 Thank you. And I appreciate all the

         10  work that you're doing.

         11                 MS. DEPEDRO: For the next panel, Mr.

         12  Dan Carlson and Jay Landato from Callen Lorde

         13  Community Center, and Petros Levounis from The

         14  Addiction Institute of New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Council Member

         16  Gennaro, would you like to introduce yourself?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair.

         19                 My name is Councilman Jim Gennaro. I

         20  represent the 24th District in Queens, and I'm proud

         21  to be here in support of this important legislation

         22  and in support of the wonderful chair of this

         23  Committee.

         24                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         25                 MS. DEPEDRO: At this time, can the
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          2  panel members raise your right hands, please.

          3                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          4  testimony you will provide will be truthful in all

          5  concerns?

          6                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          7                 MS. DEPEDRO: And at this moment, I

          8  would like you to please hold on your testimony. We

          9  will be taking a vote. One second.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Call for the vote

         11  at this moment.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Lopez.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I believe that at

         14  this moment the State need to take responsibility

         15  about protecting the City and the rest of the State,

         16  and other states have done the same thing, in

         17  stopping the sale of this particular main ingredient

         18  over the counter.

         19                 If we pass that law at the level of

         20  the State, which is pending and have not been passed

         21  yet, that will help greatly New York City.

         22                 I vote aye and I hope that the

         23  Governor, the Assembly and the Senate move forward

         24  in the piece of legislation that they have pending

         25  to prevent methamphetamine to be sold over the
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          2  counter as a regular piece of medication to prevent

          3  the production of crystal meth.

          4                 I vote aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye.

          7  And certainly agree that having experiences. We all

          8  have so many different crises in our neighborhoods

          9  that we haven't addressed head on. This is certainly

         10  one that the community has come forward, the

         11  government should come forward.

         12                 I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I vote aye,

         15  and I would just like to thank the Chair for her

         16  leadership on this issue in bringing it to our

         17  attention.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gennaro.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I also vote

         20  aye and thank the Chair in a special way for not

         21  only what she's done on this issue but in all ways

         22  she has reached out to so many on so many issues,

         23  and not everyone gets to save lives with what they

         24  do, but we're doing that today and she's always done

         25  that, and I proudly vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

          3  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

          4  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          5                 Council Members, please sign the

          6  Committee report.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Remember that you

          9  have to sign before you leave.

         10                 Thank you. Now we can proceed. And

         11  it's a pleasure to see the three of you here.

         12                 MR. CARLSON: Thank you.

         13                 Am I first?

         14                 My name is Dan Carlson. I'm with HIV

         15  Forum and the Crystal Meth Working Group. I'm here

         16  along with Jay Landato from the Community Health

         17  Center.

         18                 I'm going to give some comments, and

         19  then Jay is going to talk a little bit at the end.

         20                 I just want to say up front in

         21  listening to that very healthy and robust

         22  conversation that just took place, that I would

         23  agree with Barbara Warren that there is ample

         24  evidence that the circle of use is beyond white gay

         25  men.
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          2                 I was at the HIV Prevention

          3  Conference and Grant Colfax, at the San Francisco

          4  Department of Health, we were asked that question

          5  and he said that as well.  And, you know, we have in

          6  our efforts really worked hard to try to expand our

          7  ad campaigns beyond just the Chelsea placement. In

          8  fact, we have placed ads in Queens, in Brooklyn, and

          9  we have actively gone out to, we sent people from

         10  our group out to the Bronx to the Grand Concourse to

         11  Jackson Heights to look at Van Wagner kiosks, bus

         12  shelters near bars or clubs, based on a listing in

         13  HX, so we'd go out there and look to see what's

         14  there if anything is available. It is a really

         15  difficult targeted ad placement for us, we're

         16  talking print for outdoor, and there aren't any sort

         17  of local publications in a way that most gay men

         18  read that are, you know, that I'm aware of, Queens

         19  specific, Bronx specific. So, we go with HX's and

         20  the nexus (sic) of the world and maybe a little bit

         21  beyond that.

         22                 So, I just want to say up front that

         23  with our campaigns we have actively even sent people

         24  out there to look at the kiosk, to say well where is

         25  this, is this right where the club that's out there,
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          2  this is the address, what's available, can we get

          3  that from Van Wagner, is it available, et cetera?

          4                 As I said, my name is Dan Carlson.

          5  I'm here on behalf of the Crystal Meth Working Group

          6  of HIV Forum, and Jay Landato is here as well.

          7                 We are one of the proud recipients of

          8  the New York City Council funds to combat the

          9  crystal meth problem in New York City, in New York

         10  City's gay community.

         11                 Let me begin by thanking and

         12  commending Council Member Lopez for her leadership

         13  from the outset, from the very beginning of this

         14  problem when it was brought to light about two years

         15  ago. We commend not only your advocacy in

         16  championing this with your colleagues and finding

         17  funds to support our efforts, but we also commend

         18  you in your persistence in sustaining the effort as

         19  well. Thank you so much for your tireless work on

         20  behalf of our community.

         21                 I'm here to discuss with you how to

         22  utilize the funds allocated in Fiscal Year 2005 from

         23  the City Council, and to offer suggestions on how

         24  prevention efforts should be continued in the

         25  upcoming year.
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          2                 First, to the use of this past year's

          3  funding. In working with the New York City

          4  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, our mandate

          5  was to provide primary prevention targeted to gay

          6  men with limited to no experience with crystal meth.

          7                 DOH suggested to us that we take two

          8  actions in executing this program. First, they ask

          9  that all of our focus groups are tested with the

         10  targeted audience, and that we warn gay men about

         11  the dangers, consequences of using it.

         12                 It is my understanding that the

         13  request was based in part on a study of anti-drug

         14  ads by Fishbein, Jameson in the 2000 -- and others,

         15  in the 2002 American Journal of Public Health Study

         16  article, where they actually looked at drug ads with

         17  adolescents, and crystal meth was one of the drugs

         18  that they used, the heroin, marijuana, all those

         19  things. And that's what came out of the crystal meth

         20  ads and studies.

         21                 So, to the many significant findings

         22  from this study served as the guidepost for our

         23  work; that is to say that the study recommended that

         24  they be focus group tested and that they describe or

         25  educate consumers about the negative consequences of
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          2  use.

          3                 I can get you the exact reference on

          4  that study, if you're interested, and I'm sure DOH

          5  can too.

          6                 We took those recommendations to

          7  heart, and given the amount of time that we had, we

          8  formed an advisory group comprised of our target

          9  audience, such as gay men with limited to no

         10  experience of crystal meth use in their lifetime.

         11  And the men, the group was comprised of men of

         12  color, gay white men, gay Latino men, Asian men, and

         13  a couple of African Americans.

         14                 The ads that you have with you are

         15  the ones that are selected as the most impactful ads

         16  from among the 20 different design concepts.

         17                 Our advisory group wanted the ads to

         18  hit people in the gut, rather than in the head, as

         19  we believe that these ads did just that.

         20                 The design of the ad was greatly

         21  influenced by the effort to rise above the

         22  advertising noise in New York City and hold the

         23  attention of our target audience.

         24                 Let me just say that in these focus

         25  groups, they were moderated and ran by -- we had
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          2  people on our working group with significant

          3  branding and marketing experience, and we took this

          4  group through some pretty interesting exercise to

          5  get -- you know, get out of them what we needed to

          6  get out of them.

          7                 With the messages the advisory group

          8  requested the ads, dealing crystal from sex,

          9  emphasize that gay men are part of a larger

         10  community, and to educate them. They wanted to learn

         11  something new.

         12                 The ads were strategically placed in

         13  outdoor advertising locations, magazines such as

         14  Next, HX Out, HIV Plus and Advocate, I will say that

         15  -- and in restaurants and bars from June through

         16  August. We placed the ads on bus shelters and phone

         17  kiosks in Chelsea, East Village, Hell's Kitchen,

         18  Harlem, Park Slope.

         19                 In addition, the ads were in bathroom

         20  ads in restaurants and bars in Chelsea, West Village

         21  and East Village.

         22                 Finally, The Roxy, which is a popular

         23  gay club on Saturday nights, is home to three

         24  back-lit boards with advertising space. They'll

         25  light up when you go in there, I think they're like
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          2  11 by 17 twice, they're very visible. One at the

          3  entrance, one in the VIP room and one near the

          4  bathroom.

          5                 We owned all three boards from June

          6  through August in which we rotated each of our ads

          7  through the Roxy month to month. So, one month got

          8  the how to make how to make, the next month got

          9  Crystal Makes Me Sexy, and another one got Grow Up.

         10                 For evaluation, it is our

         11  understanding that formal evaluation will be

         12  conducted by DOH. However, the qualitative feedback

         13  from the community actually has been positive. And

         14  that was not the case for our first campaign but it

         15  was for this one.

         16                 We have not yet received one negative

         17  comment about our ads via our e-mail.

         18                 In addition, anecdotal evidence is

         19  strong that the ads are having impact.

         20                 I can say just personally that I

         21  received a call from someone who told me that he and

         22  his 12 friends stopped using crystal meth because of

         23  all the ads that are out there saying it's not

         24  glamourous and things like that. That was just one

         25  instance of community feedback on the effectiveness
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          2  of the ad campaigns.

          3                 And, you know, take for what it's

          4  worth, but the editor of the New York Blade surmised

          5  that people are seeking help with crystal meth

          6  because it's no longer cool.

          7                 To me, I think that's a good positive

          8  step. That's in, he published that editorial.

          9                 In addition, the crystal meth working

         10  group has been monitoring the on-line hook-up site,

         11  Manhunt.net, to gauge any shift in how members talk

         12  about sex with crystal or P&P, party and play. We

         13  call it our P&P ratio. So, about a year ago last

         14  September the P&P ratio was five against P&P for

         15  every one person that wanted to have sex with

         16  crystal.

         17                 This past June that ratio was 20

         18  against to one for P&P. We think the City-funded

         19  community-based efforts to date are having a great

         20  impact on how widespread this drug is and will be

         21  used.

         22                 And in addition to that, I think the

         23  efforts give a lot of cover to people who don't want

         24  to use crystal meth. They can come out and it gives

         25  them cover to come out and say that they don't want
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          2  to do that, which also changes the landscape quite a

          3  bit.

          4                 Given our current experience, we

          5  believe that in this year advertising campaign

          6  should continue with the primary prevention posture

          7  in which we develop print ads that are both

          8  educational and forceful.

          9                 We believe our methodology with an

         10  advisory group, exercises, et cetera, is a sound

         11  approach to carry that out.

         12                 In addition, we'd like to move beyond

         13  just print campaigns, which are needed obviously to

         14  maintain the discussion. We'd like to include other

         15  environmental marketing programs, such as video

         16  PSAs, and ads on bar coasters, things like that.

         17                 I think one other area that we'd like

         18  to grow with this campaign too is to widen the

         19  circle of people involved to include some local

         20  celebrities, if that's possible. But that's what we

         21  have -- we have ways to do that.

         22                 I want to add that HIV Forum and

         23  Callen Lorde urges the development of a

         24  comprehensive plan for addressing this public health

         25  issue that encompasses primary prevention, secondary
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          2  prevention, and access to a continuum of treatment

          3  services. This effort should address the use of this

          4  drug in the entire MSM community with attention to

          5  the different attitudes, beliefs and norms held in

          6  the communities of color as well.

          7                 To the greatest degree possible, this

          8  plan should be placed on research conducted in other

          9  parts of the country and in New York City and

         10  validated by evaluations conducted, conducted on

         11  funded prevention and treatment programs and amended

         12  accordingly.

         13                 In terms of prevention, we request

         14  that the City Council and the Department of Health

         15  give particular consideration to a social norms

         16  evaluation and marketing campaign.

         17                 Research in this area has shown that

         18  misperceived norms, perceptions that usually

         19  exaggerate what is typical for other people, lead to

         20  increased drug use behavior, as people attempt to

         21  conform to what they believe everyone else is doing.

         22  So, there's misperception about what everyone else

         23  is doing, so I want to be like that, I want to do

         24  that.

         25                 Therefore, effectively informing
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          2  people of the actual norms for drug use may reduce

          3  overall consumption of alcohol and other drugs, in

          4  this case crystal meth.

          5                 This type of social networks

          6  intervention has been extensively researched,

          7  particularly among young adults. Where it has been

          8  demonstrated to be effective, when counseling and

          9  education programs fail.

         10                 This type of intervention would

         11  require the commitment of funding for more than one

         12  year, and therefore would require a commitment by

         13  government, to be between 18 to 36 months.

         14                 However, while we believe that there

         15  needs to be a maintenance of effort in terms of

         16  public health marketing and that we are making a

         17  noticeable impact, these efforts will not be enough

         18  to contain this highly alluring and dangerous and

         19  highly-addictive drug for a long period of time.

         20                 Gay men are strongly, in my

         21  estimation, influenced by their social networks and

         22  addressing the underlying attitudes, both

         23  community-wide and among individuals, will be

         24  critical, I think, to our long-term prevention

         25  success.
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          2                 And that's all I have today. I'm

          3  happy to take your questions after Jay speaks a

          4  little.

          5                 MR. LANDATO: Good morning. Thank you.

          6  I just also want to thank Margarita for her

          7  tremendous efforts in bringing this issue to light

          8  and in finding funding far exceeding what we see in

          9  the State of New York has been willing to commit.

         10                 I just want to make a couple of

         11  comments. Callen Lorde serves as both the fiscal

         12  conduit for funds to the community partners from the

         13  Crystal Meth Working Group, but we also provide some

         14  technical assistance in the implementation and also

         15  are responsible to the Department of Health.

         16                 The first thing I want to say is that

         17  it's extremely difficult to conduct primary

         18  prevention efforts to New York City and especially

         19  with the LGBT community.

         20                 Our community is very tight knit.

         21  It's extremely diverse, and yet, very overlapping.

         22                 And I want to echo Dan's concerns

         23  that, you know, we have looked for venues that will

         24  specifically reach, you know, Latina lesbians who

         25  are, you know, younger and who live in outer

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  boroughs, as well as we've tried to find men. And

          3  it's extremely difficult because we don't have good

          4  information about where people are, and things do

          5  tend to get concentrated in Chelsea, and it's a

          6  problem for the long-term and it's a problem that

          7  can only be resolved when broad data sets ask people

          8  about sexual orientation and ask people about the

          9  risk behaviors that are going to impact their

         10  health, so that we know where to go.

         11                 In the three-month campaign time

         12  frame to implement this with limited funds, it was

         13  very clear how these funds should be spent. And I do

         14  think that if in the upcoming year with greater time

         15  availability there can be more sustainable efforts.

         16                 I want to also say that, you know, I

         17  also echo the need for expanding treatment options.

         18                 I've heard today, and heard our

         19  colleagues talk about how people need access to

         20  treatment and access to places at all levels of the

         21  continuum, not when someone is just both desperately

         22  ill and needs detoxification, and that is a broader

         23  step that is going to take a great deal of function

         24  and concerted effort by the part of the Council and

         25  the Department of Health to achieve that end.
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          2                 And Callen Lorde does have a detox

          3  program that is in midstream and being conducted.

          4  The only reason we can offer that is that it is an

          5  evaluated program that the State of New York gave us

          6  a waiver to implement, and we hope to share the

          7  interim report shortly.

          8                 I can tell you that it has been

          9  extremely difficult, because we find that the needs

         10  of patients are far beyond what we can serve and

         11  there are few institutional providers that will be

         12  able to offer them the services that they really

         13  need, in terms of follow-up.

         14                 One extremely positive effort is that

         15  on October 3rd, OASAS is opening the first

         16  LGBT-dedicated rehab on Randall's Island. Twenty-one

         17  dedicated beds for the LGBT community, as a rehab

         18  for all substance abuse providers, and we're

         19  extremely grateful and think that many of our

         20  patients will be able to make use of that rehab

         21  service and I want to commend the State OASAS for

         22  taking this on.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: We criticized them

         24  enough.

         25                 MR. LANDATO: We criticize them
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          2  enough. You know, it took them a long time to figure

          3  out that alcohol and substance abuse were the same

          4  thing, but, you know, let me not digress.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: What I was trying

          6  to say is that it worked that we criticized and we

          7  raised our voices, and that finally they have

          8  responded.

          9                 If we would have been silent, they

         10  would have not done nothing (sic).

         11                 MR. LANDATO: That's true.

         12                 I want to talk about the contracting

         13  process again. It was extremely difficult. I think

         14  one of the things that's a major challenge is that

         15  these funds went through the mental health arm of

         16  the Department of Health.

         17                 I can appreciate the rationale why

         18  that would have to happen particularly for the

         19  treatment program, but none of the community-based

         20  organizations, including Callen Lorde is an Article

         21  31 or currently OASAS funded. So, none of us had

         22  existing contracts and never had done a contract

         23  with DOMH for that purpose.

         24                 All of us have current existing

         25  prevention contracts through HIV-related funds.
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          2  These funds could be added with an amendment to

          3  existing contracts bystepping all of the other PPB

          4  rules in order for us to get this many out, and it

          5  literally can be done in a week.

          6                 That does not have to obviate the

          7  need of the Department's mental health side from

          8  signing off under the scope of what we do, but I

          9  would really urge that organizationally the

         10  Department could take a look at how this could truly

         11  be expedited, because I have to say as a former City

         12  employee, if we have to go through the process, and

         13  we have to go, as Dennis said, through the ACCO and

         14  the Comptroller, we will not have these contracts,

         15  no matter how much you do, Ma'am, to move them

         16  without organizations thinking about what is most

         17  expeditious.

         18                 And I urge you to attend them to our

         19  consisting contracts.

         20                 The last thing that I want to say is

         21  that I want to voice our support of 866-A. I

         22  understand that this is an act that's being taken on

         23  in a number of jurisdictions and venues.

         24                 I want to give you the caveat and

         25  would even suggest to you to add this as you move
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          2  forward in encouraging the State of New York.

          3                 New York State is a funky place.

          4  There is no place in New York that's less than an

          5  hour's drive from five other states in a foreign

          6  country.

          7                 What we do in New York City can be

          8  easily overcome by a dollar riding the Path train to

          9  other venues. I know that Jersey is implementing

         10  this as well.

         11                 What this will do is not probably

         12  reduce the amount of commercially developed meth

         13  which is coming in either through the City or

         14  through Canada from much larger settings, but will

         15  deter home-grown efforts at small production labs,

         16  and would probably be helpful to, you know, lesson

         17  the amount of pollution in the environment and

         18  efforts of the Fire Department otherwise.

         19                 It's something to be supported but it

         20  does not sidestep the principle source of the supply

         21  of drug into the City and into the State. But I

         22  think it's a valuable effort.

         23                 DR. LEVOUNIS: Hello. My name is

         24  Petros Levounis, and I'm the Director of the

         25  Addiction Institute of New York, and Chief of the
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          2  Division of Addiction Psychiatry at St. Luke's and

          3  Roosevelt Hospital.

          4                 First of all, I would like to thank

          5  Councilwoman Margarita Lopez for her visionary

          6  effort in the crystal methamphetamine war that we've

          7  been fighting, all of us here, and the Council of

          8  the City of New York, as well, for supporting us in

          9  our efforts.

         10                 I also would like to extend a thanks

         11  to Andrew Caloid and Lloyd Sederer from the

         12  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene who have

         13  been working with us and supporting our efforts, as

         14  well.

         15                 I'm going to talk about the Addiction

         16  Institute of New York and specifically about the

         17  Crystal Clear Project, which is Crystal

         18  Methamphetamine Treatment Program at the Addiction

         19  Institute.

         20                 Before going into some of the

         21  specifics, I just wanted to say that the Addiction

         22  Institute has two qualities that make it a

         23  particularly good choice for treatment of crystal

         24  methamphetamine gay men, crystal

         25  methampetamine-addicted gay men; on one hand, we're
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          2  an extremely extensive and comprehensive program of

          3  addiction services who have over 70,000 patient

          4  visits a year, a hundred beds, all levels of care,

          5  inpatient, outpatient, detoxification, residential

          6  treatments, intensive outpatient programs and so on,

          7  so we can really offer everything that the patient

          8  who struggles with substance abuse or dependents may

          9  need.

         10                 On the other hand, the Addiction

         11  Institute of New York has a very long history of gay

         12  affirmative treatment and interventions, we're way

         13  past the gay friendly, we're really very much in the

         14  realm of gay affirmative, and this is reflected in

         15  the great diversity of staff that we employ, we have

         16  over 220 employees at the Addiction Institute and

         17  several people feel very comfortable being openly

         18  gay at all levels of the hierarchy of the

         19  institution.

         20                 So, with the support of the Council

         21  of the City of New York, in 2005 we put together the

         22  Crystal Clear Project. The Crystal Clear Project has

         23  four arms: treatment, training, prevention and

         24  outreach.

         25                 So, on the treatment side, since
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          2  March of 2005 when the program became operative and

          3  earnest, we had evaluated and treated over 50 gay

          4  men, and our program consists of two parts: there is

          5  a group of patients who come in two and three times

          6  a week for group psychotherapy, and they are in

          7  exclusive gay men who struggle with crystal

          8  methamphetamine issues group.

          9                 And also we have another group who

         10  participates in our intensive outpatient program and

         11  also comes to the crystal methamphetamine specific

         12  groups.

         13                 The second group is designed for

         14  patients who need more treatment, more than two to

         15  three times a week, group psychotherapy, so that

         16  they can actually get the benefits of the daily

         17  intervention, but also the gay-specific group

         18  psychotherapy.

         19                 In that second group I also place

         20  some patients who are in our inpatient group who

         21  live there in the rehabilitation unit and also come

         22  into the crystal methamphetamine-specific groups and

         23  are part of the community of crystal

         24  methamphetamine, gay men Crystal Clear Project.

         25                 The program is very much based on the
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          2  matrix model. And the matrix model is a model that

          3  was developed primarily in California for crystal

          4  methamphetamine. There are several, of course, books

          5  and tapes and materials, but this is a summary of

          6  the matrix model. And the matrix model does reflect

          7  our current thinking about crystal methamphetamine

          8  which is let's through everything but the kitchen

          9  sink to the patient and try to approach the problem

         10  with as many angles as possible.

         11                 So, major ingredients of the matrix

         12  model have been individual counseling, group

         13  psychotherapy, contingency management. Contingency

         14  management basically rewards patients for coming up

         15  with negative urines.

         16                 The more negative urines you have,

         17  your toxicology examination urines you have, the

         18  more vouchers for movies and so on you get. So, it

         19  is an incentive for continuing being abstinent.

         20                 And the fourth element there is

         21  crystal methamphetamine anonymous groups, mutual

         22  help support groups.

         23                 There are two more aspects of the

         24  matrix model that we also use, but not quite as

         25  extensively, and one of them is family work, and
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          2  family intervention. And this is because a lot of

          3  our patients have been estranged from families of

          4  origin, but they still, of course, have family ties,

          5  and we're working on that.

          6                 And finally, there's also the issue

          7  of medication in the treatment of crystal

          8  methamphetamine abuse and dependents.

          9                 This has become somewhat of a

         10  controversial issue in medicine, whether we should

         11  use medications for treating crystal-methamphetamine

         12  patients. And I just want, if I can take a moment

         13  here to clarify what the issues are; there are two

         14  different aspects of the use of medication and

         15  crystal methamphetamine problems.

         16                 One is the treatment of co-caring or

         17  morbid, psychiatric or other disorders. For example,

         18  somebody suffers from crystal methamphetamine abuse

         19  and as at the same time depression or anxiety,

         20  schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, diabetes,

         21  hypertension, whatever other disorder may be, and

         22  there is very little controversy that these

         23  co-caring disorders should be addressed and

         24  supported and taken care of with medication as

         25  needed. There is very little controversy on that
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          2  side.

          3                 But there is another side which is

          4  the use of medication directly for treating crystal

          5  methamphetamine problems independent of co-caring

          6  disorders, and that is somewhat controversial at

          7  this time.

          8                 Personally, I believe there are not

          9  enough data to support extensive use of medication

         10  in crystal methamphetamine users, but there are

         11  other people who feel differently, and, of course,

         12  the correct forum for this kind of exchange is the

         13  scientific meetings, and I'm very glad that I debate

         14  these issues in many, many forums, including the

         15  World Psychiatric Association, the Association, the

         16  American Society of Addiction Medicine, and other

         17  venues.

         18                 All right, I don't want to take too

         19  much time with going through the entire paper here,

         20  because I'd like to answer questions if there are

         21  any. But I want to say that on the training side,

         22  we, with your support, we're very, very fortunate to

         23  be able to train several staff members of the

         24  Addiction Institute, instead of going training the

         25  three or four people who would be directly
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          2  responsible for treating crystal methamphetamine

          3  patients, we offered intensive training for 12 staff

          4  members, and in-services for about 100 staff members

          5  of the Addiction Institute.

          6                 What that has result in is a creation

          7  of a voucher of treating crystal methamphetamine

          8  patients at the Addiction Institute. So, even though

          9  you may never see directly a crystal methamphetamine

         10  patient, you know a lot about a crystal

         11  methamphetamine, you know when to refer somebody,

         12  you know what the issues are involved in crystal

         13  methamphetamine and your antennas are up to be able

         14  to do something about it when the crystal

         15  methamphetamine patient actually ends up on your

         16  unit or on your service.

         17                 We have been involved in an extensive

         18  education effort. We also presented at the first

         19  National Conference On Crystal Methamphetamine in

         20  Salt Lake City, in Utah, and we have been presenting

         21  our program and our ideas about crystal

         22  methamphetamine and the treatment of crystal

         23  methamphetamine in very many venues in New York

         24  City, but also beyond New York and actually the

         25  international setting as well.
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          2                 We also have been offering our

          3  expertise to City programs like Sylvia's Place,

          4  which is a shelter for gay, lesbian -- gay,

          5  bisexual, lesbian, transgender and queer youth, as

          6  well as the City College of New York.

          7                 We've been asked to write about this

          8  program and we're now preparing an article for

          9  Primary Psychiatry, which is going to help

         10  physicians recognize crystal methamphetamine

         11  problems, and how to do very basic interventions and

         12  treatments.

         13                 We've developed a flyer on the

         14  outreach side about our program, which is this one

         15  right here. I wish we had Dan's expertise in

         16  marketing and the people who here he has been

         17  working with. It's very nice I think, but it

         18  certainly could have been even more attractive.

         19                 We have been placing several ads, of

         20  course, in HX, Next, Village Voice and other

         21  publications. We have been meeting with community

         22  groups, the Community Center, of course, Callen

         23  Lorde, GMHC, in order to get more information about

         24  the need for crystal methamphetamine treatment, but

         25  also to promote our own program.
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          2                 Finally, we have been having

          3  extensive collaborations with professionals in the

          4  field. We have official linkage agreement with

          5  practitioners in New York City who see crystal

          6  methamphetamine patients, so they can offer some

          7  primary treatment in their offices, but then if the

          8  patient needs more intervention, they can quickly

          9  send them to us for the intensive outpatient

         10  program, or our inpatient services, and then we can

         11  send them back for continuous treatment to their

         12  offices.

         13                 This is an overview of our programs.

         14  I would be very happy to answer any questions on the

         15  things that we do, but before closing, I just want

         16  to thank once again, very sincerely, Councilwoman

         17  Margarita Lopez for helping us so much with this

         18  effort, and also the Council of the City of New

         19  York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to thank

         21  everybody who acknowledged the work that I have done

         22  on this, because I honestly believe that if I would

         23  have not done this, we would not be addressing this

         24  issue today. Then that brings me to a concern that I

         25  have, and I am not saying that I am a hero, that I
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          2  did something great, I'm just saying that unless we

          3  have inside of the Council a person who is going to

          4  carry this responsibility, we're going to have

          5  problems. Because this issue of substance abuse is

          6  sometimes foreseen as something that we as a society

          7  should not address and put it under the table and

          8  never look at it. And that's the problem we have

          9  with substance abuse, that unless we admit that it's

         10  there, and we need to address it, we are not going

         11  to resolve it. And we love to deny it. We love to

         12  say that alcoholism doesn't exist. We love to say

         13  that we don't have a problem with drugs in our

         14  society, and the more we say that that's not true,

         15  the better we will be at it.

         16                 Then I'm going to suggest to you to

         17  monitor next year when the new Council come, you

         18  need to make sure that you are on top of the person

         19  who is going to be in charge of this Committee, and

         20  that person cannot let the ball drop on the issues

         21  of substance abuse. And it's up to you to make sure

         22  that that person take that responsibility.

         23                 It happen to be that I don't need

         24  that, because I am committed to this issue because

         25  my background. But we don't know who is going to be
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          2  in charge of the Committee. I hope it's going to be

          3  somebody who really care for these things, and if

          4  it's not, then it's up to you to make that person

          5  care for it. And we know how to make that happen.

          6                 I hope that you get that, carry with

          7  you, and make sure that come January, the first

          8  thing that you do is to introduce yourself to

          9  whoever is the Chair of this Committee, and be in

         10  the battle for the funding.

         11                 Don't let anybody tell you that the

         12  funding cannot be allocated, and that it's not a

         13  responsibility by the Council to do that. The

         14  Council have to do this, and I'm telling you the

         15  money is there. You need somebody to fight for it,

         16  that's it. And with somebody fighting for it, you

         17  get.

         18                 And the second thing I want to do is

         19  that, I'm interested to put this into the front of

         20  the camera that is taking this right now, because I

         21  think this particular ad is very effective. And I

         22  don't know if you can zoom in on this; can you?

         23                 I want the viewers who are looking at

         24  this program to look at this particular ad very

         25  carefully. I mean, what it's telling you is that
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          2  this particular drug is pure poison, and that the

          3  poison that we we're talking about will kill you.

          4                 Then don't take this drug. This ad is

          5  not exaggerating what this drug is about. This ad is

          6  saying exactly what is the component. Three part

          7  sinus medication, two parts drain cleaner, what you

          8  put in the pipes of your house when they are stopped

          9  with garbage; and one part antifreeze. That's what

         10  we put inside of the cars. The cars in order not to

         11  frozen during the wintertime. And one part paint

         12  thinner. Thinner that is used to remove paint. Then

         13  if you want to put this poison inside of your body,

         14  you know what you're doing. You're killing yourself.

         15  And I believe that you are a precious human being.

         16  You should not do that.

         17                 Thank you for giving attention to

         18  this.

         19                 I just want to know first which one

         20  of the ads is more effective from the four that you

         21  gave us?

         22                 MR. CARLSON: Well, I mean it's what

         23  you consider effective. I mean, for our target

         24  audience, it would most keep them, I mean we took

         25  them through several exercises but what would keep
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          2  them the furthest away from using in a given

          3  situation.

          4                 And early in our period with them, we

          5  had them rank several concepts, including some of

          6  the existing concepts, like crystal mess that is

          7  used in San Francisco, which came out to be a very

          8  popular highly scored ad, according to our group.

          9                 The actual ad that scored the highest

         10  was the green one.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This one?

         12                 MR. CARLSON: Yes. We were shocked.

         13  Higher than crystal mess. Because I think they were

         14  just ready to speak very forcefully to the people,

         15  to their friends.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's

         17  fascinating, because when I look at the four, I jump

         18  out of my body to think that I would put paint

         19  thinner in my body.

         20                 MR. CARLSON: Well, yes, that was an

         21  interesting one, too, is that when we had discussion

         22  with them and we talked about that ad, someone said,

         23  you know, this will help me with my friends, I'll

         24  say, dude, you're snorting paint thinner. So, that

         25  is something that would be interjected in the
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          2  conversations, or could be interjected in the

          3  conversations with their friends. You know, like,

          4  that's, you're putting paint thinner in your body,

          5  what are you doing? Someone is probably more likely

          6  to say that than, you know, grow up or something

          7  like that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: That's

          9  fascinating.

         10                 MR. CARLSON: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And it's

         12  fascinating because the amount of information that

         13  the green ad had.

         14                 DR. LEVOUNIS: That's actually

         15  something that we're finding, that especially some

         16  of our younger patients are saturated with the moral

         17  directives, so they say if you're going to give me

         18  something, please give me some education.

         19                 So, if they see something that has a

         20  paragraph or has some things that they can actually

         21  work with, they find that more attractive at times.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: It's fascinating.

         23                 In regard of the 50 people that were

         24  treated, how many went back to you?

         25                 DR. LEVOUNIS: This is something that
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          2  we have not really put together. That it's quite

          3  early to know about our outcomes. Although, of

          4  course, we are tracking the patients who we see.

          5                 The early reports from the patients

          6  that we've seen, we did a midway estimate about how

          7  we're doing it is quite positive, but we do not have

          8  these numbers yet.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, I need the

         10  information, because when I met with you guys in the

         11  beginning, I was told that the success rate was very

         12  low to be able to keep somebody away.

         13                 I want to know how many of those

         14  people kept away from using again. And that's very

         15  important information for me.

         16                 DR. LEVOUNIS: We're certainly

         17  tracking this and we will have this data for you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I also want to

         19  know if the new protocol you implemented was working

         20  or not, because at the time you did not have a

         21  specific protocol in place. Now that you have a

         22  specific protocol, I want to know if there's

         23  difference in success.

         24                 DR. LEVOUNIS: That's exactly right.

         25  We first came in we did not have a protocol. We were
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          2  seeing some crystal methamphetamine patients, but,

          3  one, there were nowhere near as many as we see now

          4  that we have the protocol and the funding and the

          5  whole program in place; and, two, we're not really

          6  keeping very close track of them.

          7                 So, I'm not sure if we'll be able to

          8  compare how we're doing now with how we're doing

          9  back then, but we'll certainly have a sense of how

         10  we're doing now.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay.

         12                 Jay, thank you for the information

         13  that you provide about the difficulties on the

         14  contract. And I thank you because that pointed out

         15  to me two things; one, that the Department of Health

         16  and Mental Hygiene continue to have a double

         17  standard when it come down to the issues of mental

         18  health. That's what that point out to me. Because if

         19  the mental health contracts are not done as

         20  expeditiously, and as clear as the Department of

         21  Health is done, then that's a problem. It should not

         22  be a problem. Both of them should be done equally.

         23                 Part of the reason I opposed the

         24  merger was precisely because I knew the mental

         25  health and substance abuse would suffer the
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          2  consequences.

          3                 Then I thank you for telling me this.

          4  I have no problem in putting the contract on HIV,

          5  but this is not a health problem. This is a

          6  substance abuse issue. And unless the Department

          7  tell me why is it that they cannot make both of them

          8  work expeditiously, then what that said to me is

          9  that people with mental illness, people with

         10  substance abuse are not treated equally as people

         11  who have health problems. That's what that said to

         12  me.

         13                 MR. CARLSON: I can't say that the

         14  totality of mental health contracts are not -- are

         15  more or less expeditiously executed than health.

         16                 My specific point is, is that none of

         17  my organization, and I do not believe GMHC, Latino

         18  Commission or the Center is either an Article 31, a

         19  mental health licensed facility, or a current OASAS

         20  recipient.

         21                 And, so, we had never done these

         22  contracts before. And so there are many boilerplate

         23  parts of this that we had to come up with for the

         24  Department for the very first time.

         25                 Unlike with HIV funding, all of that
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          2  is already in place, and I already have an existing

          3  agreement. So, my point was that we were really

          4  starting from scratch with this. Not that I have no

          5  insight on whether Health or Mental Health gets done

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: But it's the

          8  responsibility to health. You see, I'm having a

          9  fight, a big fight here, from the moment that I

         10  arrived to this Council in '97, in '98 when I began.

         11  It was an attempt by the Giuliani Administration to

         12  merge these two departments. I continue to be a

         13  skeptic of this merger. It finally happened through

         14  a funny way in which Giuliani did it, by putting it

         15  to the voters, and the voters voted for it and the

         16  merger occurred.

         17                 The merger have specific orders in

         18  which the Departments cannot favor one or the other

         19  in regard of funding, in regard of resources, and

         20  what I'm seeing over and over again is that the side

         21  of mental health and substance abuse is second. I

         22  continue to see that.

         23                 Now, when these contracts are going

         24  to be put in place, and all this is going to happen,

         25  I insisted, and I made very clear, no you are not
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          2  going to convert this into a health problem, because

          3  it is not. It's a substance abuse problem. And

          4  you're going to deal with it that way.

          5                 Part of the reason I keep that fight

          6  is because the State and the City don't want to put

          7  money into substance abuse problems. They refuse to

          8  do it. And they refuse to do it because part of it

          9  is to project that we're winning the war on drug

         10  use, which is a lie. We're not. Because we are not

         11  addressing this problem appropriately.

         12                 Then I am not going to be part of the

         13  cover-up, and I am going to continue talking on it

         14  and speaking on it. Then I'm not surprised that

         15  you're telling me this because to me the Department

         16  should have put resources in place to make sure that

         17  these issues were resolved for the groups that got

         18  the money.

         19                 Why? Because the group that got the

         20  money are the group that had to do the work. We

         21  couldn't put this money into traditional clinics

         22  that have the Article 31, because those traditional

         23  clinics will not do the work because they don't know

         24  how to deal with the population that is using the

         25  drug.
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          2                 And why do I know that? Because I

          3  used to work in one of those clinics, and I never

          4  saw a gay person coming for treatment.

          5                 Then I understand this issue very

          6  clear, and I understand that the Department,

          7  therefore, fail in them putting some kind of mess to

          8  help the group to get the money to move it forward,

          9  and I am not going to settle for excuses.

         10                 Then I'm going back, I'm going to be

         11  looking into this. I'm going to meet with the

         12  Department, and if they wait to release the money

         13  now, it's to do it through the way you're talking

         14  about, I will be willing to do it, but I would be

         15  willing to do it temporarily. I'm not going to do it

         16  based on them relinquishing their responsibility to

         17  enforce and to create a real treatment system on the

         18  mental health and substance abuse that is equal,

         19  fast and clear as the one that's in health, period.

         20                 They had to put parity in place. The

         21  law that was passed say so. They cannot violate the

         22  parity and that parity had to be in terms of equal

         23  treatment for both issues.

         24                 Then I hope that you understand that

         25  part, and that I'm going to be fighting on that. And
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          2  I understand what you said, is that I have other

          3  information on me that make me understand the bigger

          4  picture that we're talking about.

          5                 Then I'm going to thank you for your

          6  presentation, and I'm going to indicate to you that

          7  I'm going to make sure that from now to December

          8  31st, we're going to complete this and I'm going to

          9  make in place, I'm going to put in place safety nets

         10  to make sure that this money continue.

         11                 I'm going to be in another part of

         12  the City fighting the issues that I always fight,

         13  and I'm going to disappear, and perhaps I'm going to

         14  be in a place that I'm going to be more powerful

         15  than I am right now, and who knows, people don't

         16  know where I'm going and people will see me soon

         17  resurfacing somewhere, okay?

         18                 Then thank you very much. Thank you

         19  for being so kind to me in your compliments, but I

         20  must tell you, without the people organizing without

         21  the efforts that were made originally, and those

         22  activities that you put together, with Ann and --

         23                 MR. CARLSON: Bruce and Peter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: -- Bruce, this

         25  would not be where it is today.
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          2                 Then the City owe you a lot, and the

          3  gay community owe you a lot. And I will indicate

          4  that I'm surprised that Mr. Brian Ellner is not

          5  here, because he, during his entire campaign was

          6  very preoccupied with this issue, and I never saw

          7  him campaigning on the issue of crystal meth and

          8  fighting for this, and I'm very surprised that he's

          9  not here today. I would have loved to see him

         10  fighting for crystal meth in this hearing, and all

         11  of the hearings that we have in the past.

         12                 Thank you very much and God bless

         13  you.

         14                 DR. LEVOUNIS: Thank you very much.

         15                 MR. CARLSON: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: This hearing is

         17  adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:27 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 16th day of September 2005.
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